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Berrigan Shire Vision
The vision of Berrigan Shire Council is to create a sustainable, healthy and vibrant
community that takes advantage of economic opportunities, promotes innovation and
diversification, realises the potential of existing businesses and welcomes compatible strategic
investment into the Shire.
The Council will do this through observing the following principles, values and ethics.

Integrity
Leadership
Selflessness
Objectivity
Accountability
Openness
Honesty
Respect
Trust and Teamwork
Advocacy
Partnership

CONTACTING COUNCIL
Postal:
PO Box 137, Berrigan NSW 2712
Phone:
(03) 5888 5100
Facsimile:
(03) 5885 2092
Email:
mail@berriganshire.nsw.gov.au
Website:
www.berriganshire.nsw.gov.au
Administrative Office:
56 Chanter St, Berrigan NSW 2712
Office Hours: 8.00am to 5.00pm, Monday to Friday.
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About this Annual Report
Each year the Council produces an Annual Report to review its performance and
achievements for the past financial year. The document is designed to provide an insight into
the Council‟s operations and financial position, and indicate how the Council has performed
in achieving the activities it set for itself.
While the production of an Annual Report is a statutory requirement under the Local
Government Act 1993, the Council also sees this document as a key indicator of the Council‟s
commitment to open, transparent, and accountable governance.
The Council‟s Annual Report aims to provide its customers with a clear understanding of the
Council‟s responsibilities and activities.
The following Annual Report includes information on:
The achievements and challenges faced by the Council during the financial year;
Information about Council operations during the 2007/08 financial year;
An outline of Council services;
Performance against the objectives set out in the Council‟s Corporate Plan;
The Financial Statements for the 2007/08 financial year; and
Other information required by the Local Government Act 1993.
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Mayor’s Report
It is extremely pleasing to be able to report on a year during
which the Shire has continued to provide the level of services
that our residents and ratepayers are entitled to expect.
Unfortunately, drought conditions continued to plague our
region again, resulting in zero water allocations for our
irrigation farmers. Both continue to have a real economic and
social impact on our Shire.
The impacts of these factors, along with external financial
pressures, are clearly highlighted by the downturn we have witnessed in development
approvals and residential growth across the Shire in the past year.
This year has again been an interesting one for Councillors and staff as decisions were not
only made on a range of new projects and policies, but we finally saw the outcome of some
prior decisions which included:
Completion of the new Berrigan Library
Sale of the River Murray Heritage Centre at Tocumwal
Decision to lease the management of the Finley Saleyards
Opening of the Doctor‟s Co-location Medical Centre in Finley
Construction of a new amenities block at the Tocumwal Caravan Park
New water reservoir at Finley
Finalisation of an agreement to recycle water to the Tocumwal Golf Club
Purchase of water to provide relief from Level 4 water restrictions
Drought proofing the towns of Berrigan and Finley through enlarged water storages
Progress toward the installation of new water meters across all four towns
Public consultation process to explain the Council‟s new water pricing policy
Assistance provided to upgrade netball courts in all towns
The Council continued to support the community as part of our Social and Cultural Plan and
no doubt the highlight, especially for the town of Berrigan, was the opening of their new
Multi Purpose Health facility followed some weeks later by the opening of extensions to the
Amaroo Aged Care Hostel.
In reflection, the year produced a number of challenges for our Council, many of which will
be ongoing as we witness the continuing cost shifting to Local Government and the imposing
of State and Federal Government Policy which are evidenced by the following:
The unjustifiable increase in cost to the Council for holding the 2008 election.
The enquiry into Council owned water and sewer utilities and the likely outcomes of that
enquiry.
Ongoing discussions with the Valuer General as a result of the separation of Land and
Water and the inequitable rating system which the Council has been forced to implement.
Removal of the Regional Partnerships Program by the Federal Government which will
result in two years without any such funding program for community infrastructure.
The Federal and State Governments “buy back” of irrigation water allocation which has
the potential to really impact on the economy of our Shire.
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There is no doubt in my mind that the Berrigan Shire, as a small to medium sized Council, is
a leader in developing and implementing good policy. This just does not happen; it comes
about because of good governance, good strategic planning, financial accountability, and the
ability of Councillors and staff to work together in a cooperative manner.
I take this opportunity to thank all staff for your commitment to the people of the Shire and
for the level of service you provide.
Not only has it been a very rewarding and enjoyable experience to preside over this Council
for this Mayoral term, but it has also been an honour to do so for the full term of the current
Council.
I thank all Councillors for your support and the contribution you have made to the Berrigan
Shire during this Council term. Because of your commitment, the Berrigan Shire continues to
be a great place to live.

JOHN BRUCE
MAYOR
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General Manager’s Report
September 2008 sees the conduct of the Council elections following
the completion of a 4.5 year term by the existing Councillors. From
my perspective, the Council can be proud of its achievements over
that term and also the way that some particularly difficult issues have
been resolved to achieve the best possible outcome for the
community.
WATER
The last year has seen a number of unusual challenges confront the
Council and the community that have driven by one common factor –
the drought. With these ongoing conditions the community has been directly confronted by
water restrictions and the Council itself has seen significant revenue losses to its water fund
through reduced usage charges and also its inability to temporarily trade water. The initially
tough Stage 4 restrictions were reduced to a more manageable Stage 3 and Stage 3a through
the cooperation of the State, the Council and the community to see the purchase of additional
water and the application of an effective $30 additional water charge on consumers. Whilst
the Council has continued to forgo the revenue from water trading it has however adopted
future charges that will sustain the operation of the water fund through the present drought.
The ongoing drought also required the construction of additional water storage at Berrigan
due to its heavy reliance upon seasonal flows through the Mulwala Canal. These works were
jointly funded by the State and the Council and were possible through the cooperation of a
local landowner that allowed access to a development site in advance of legal transfer of the
land. Additional storage is also required at Finley however these works cannot proceed until
the existing lake can be safely drained and refilled.
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT OFFICER
The Council has, for an extended period, prepared comprehensive Social/Community and
Cultural Plans but has lacked the capability to implement most of the desired actions
contained within the Plans. This year has seen the appointment of a part time Community
Development Officer to assist with the implementation of those Plans. Whilst the Officer has
only been appointed for a short time clear priority areas have been identified and some
progress made. I believe that this appointment will see some comprehensive results achieved
next year particularly in the area of volunteer management and promotion.
STORMWATER MANAGEMENT
The development and implementation of the Council‟s Stormwater Management Plan has
seen some large projects completed over recent years. The past twelve months has seen the
Tocumwal Recycling facility achieve physical completion with only licensing consent to be
achieved. This facility will see all treated effluent from the Tocumwal Sewerage Treatment
Plant and a significant quantity of Tocumwal‟s stormwater drainage recycled for use at the
Tocumwal Golf Course. This use will both reduce demand for river pumping by the Club and
help secure overall water supplies to an important tourist facility in the Shire.
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Works have also commenced to accelerate stormwater outfalls at Tocumwal to reduce
localised flooding. Construction has commenced on a final pumping station at the Tocumwal
Foreshore to provide the last part of the improvement program.
BERRIGAN LIBRARY AND ARCHIVE
The new Berrigan Library and Archive Area was recently completed on the former Rennick‟s
site. This facility has provided an up to date information centre for the community and has
also played a role in improving the general Berrigan streetscape.
The completion of this project has seen the completion of the Council‟s Strategic Library
Development Plan that was commenced in 1995 and has resulted in three new libraries
throughout the Shire.
When planning for the new Berrigan Library the Council took the opportunity to add a
records storage area to it to cater for the Council‟s day to day files and extensive public
records. This addition will, if required, allow the Council to expand staff accommodation into
the area within the Shire Office presently used for records storage without the need for
building additions.
NETBALL COURTS
The four netball clubs within the Shire were faced with the dilemma of being unable to play
finals on their courts due to new risk management standards being implemented by Netball
Victoria, with whom the Clubs are affiliated. While Tocumwal netball courts were already
being replaced, the Council had hoped to upgrade one set of courts per year to satisfy the new
standards. This proposal was not accepted and the Council assisted Clubs at Berrigan, Finley
and Barooga to upgrade their courts at the same time. The reduced timeframe to develop and
improve the courts was a direct result of the cooperation between the respective Clubs and the
Council and was a good example of the ability of the Council and the community working
together in times of need.
TOCUMWAL CARAVAN PARK
The lease of the Tocumwal Caravan Park to the current lessees continues to be a good news
story for the Council. The past year saw the completion of the new amenities building which
is a great improvement to the park. The amenities building was largely funded by the Council
with a significant proportion of the cost to be repaid through increased rental.
A new lease option for a further five year term was entered into during the year.
The turnaround in the operation of the Park since a permanent lease arrangement has been
entered into has been a great achievement for the Council.
FINLEY SALEYARDS
The operation of the Finley Saleyards has been a continuing disappointment for the Council in
recent years. Declining stock numbers have continued to erode revenues. Whilst expenditure
associated with the yards has continued to be pared back it has not been able to match
declining revenues, resulting in ongoing losses. These losses erode the Council‟s ability to
provide other services.
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The Council considered the ongoing operations for the Saleyards and resolved that rather than
close or sell the yards the best option would be to lease the facility to a private operator.
The Council believed that this option provided some hope of ongoing service provision whilst
protecting the Council and the community from some level of financial risk into the future.
The Council has successfully negotiated a twelve month lease of the facility with a view to
providing a much longer term option after the initial period.
FINLEY TOWNSCAPE IMPROVEMENT WORKS
The Council provided additional funds as part of its budget to improve the townscape of
Finley through the redevelopment of Warmatta Street, east of Murray Street. The concept
plan developed an opportunity to link Finley Railway Station and Railway Park into the main
street area and also provide a developed link to residential areas east of the former railway
line that have been largely isolated from the main street.
The Council took the opportunity to try and leverage its funds through the application for
Regional Partnerships grant funds to provide further works to the area.
Ultimately this application has delayed commencement of the works, and due to changing
priorities of the newly elected Federal Government, no additional funding was received. The
works will now proceed as originally proposed.
STAFF ATTRACTION AND RETENTION
Attracting staff continues to be difficult for the Council particularly in the professional and
paraprofessional areas. To improve this situation the Council has provided two scholarships to
local students to retain them in the area. One student has now almost completed her studies
and should commence with the Council towards the end of the year as an Environmental
Health Officer. The Council also provides workplacement opportunities for tertiary students
of relevant streams during their holiday periods or required work experience.
These initiatives are a cost to the community, however they are an example of the types of
activities that need to be trialled to see if they improve the Council‟s ability to attract staff.
LAND SALES AT FINLEY
The Council has previously developed 18 lots at Finley. 17 of these lots accommodate
residential development with the remaining parcel being Railway Park. Sales of these lots had
initially been relatively steady with 10 sold. During the last twelve months sales have slowed
significantly in concert with land and housing development across the Shire and the wider
region.
As stated earlier, this report reflects upon the last year of the current Council‟s term. I would
like to thank the Council for its cooperation and assistance in achieving many of its goals over
the term. There have been many great achievements over the term and equally some
disappointing outcomes, such as the Ballerini claim, however all of these issues have been
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progressed professionally and impartially by the Council which is something they can be
proud of.
I would also like to express my appreciation to all of the Council staff without whom goals
could not be delivered. The efforts of the staff have been positive and I think that the
significant reduction in customer requests and complaints is evidence of this.
Lastly, I believe that the Council has shown it can work constructively with the community
for its long term betterment. Whilst there is obviously not always agreement on all issues
there does appear to be an environment of trust and respect that allows issues to be worked
through and resolved constructively. This environment will give the community and the
Council the best chance of success into the future.

ROWAN PERKINS
GENERAL MANAGER
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The Year in Review
JULY
Stage 4 water restrictions banning the outdoor use of water were introduced.
The Council accepted a tender to replace the amenities building at the Tocumwal Caravan
Park.
After more than three years the Council managed to have 3 parcels of land at Tocumwal
and Barooga rezoned for residential use. These parcels total approximately 38 hectares
and will facilitate the ongoing growth of these towns.
AUGUST
The Council and Police held a public meeting in Finley to gauge community support for
the development of a Crime Prevention Plan. The meeting was well supported and
endorsed the proposal, electing to establish a Crime Prevention Committee comprising
representation from the community, relevant state agencies and the Council.
New storage dams at the Tocumwal Sewerage Treatment Plant were commissioned. The
dams will be used to harvest stormwater and treated effluent that can be recycled and used
to reduce the use of underground and river water by Tocumwal Golf Club.
SEPTEMBER
Council agreed to purchase enough water to ease water restrictions from Stage 4 to 3a
allowing some limited watering of gardens over the summer months. To fund the purchase
a new $10 per month charge in addition to normal consumption charges was introduced
for a period of 3 months.
The construction of the new Berrigan Library commenced.
Cr. John Bruce was re-elected as Mayor for the next 12 months. Cr. Bernard Curtin was
similarly re-elected to the position of Deputy Mayor for the same period.
National Simultaneous storytime, featuring “The Magic Hat” by Mem Fox and illustrated
by Tricia Tusa, was held at the Berrigan and Tocumwal Libraries.
OCTOBER
“Have a Tee-riffic time @ your Library” was held at local libraries during October. This
Techno Teen Program enabled participants to create their own transfers from photos,
drawings or clipart and to turn their plain T-shirts into wearable art.
The Berrigan Shire Library Service Holiday Program for Primary School Children ran
sessions on creating your own diary, journal, autograph book, notebooks or memo pads.
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NOVEMBER
A Crime Prevention Survey was sent out to all Finley residents.
The Council called for Expressions of Interest to lease Finley Saleyards. The Council was
keen to “test the market” to see if there was any interest from parties that could better
operate the yards.
The winners of the Alexander Garden Competition Best Garden as Viewed from the
Roadway/Best Environmentally Friendly Garden were announced. The winners were:
o Finley – Mr CAJ & Mrs RB Matheson of 44 Finley Street (Overall Winner)
o Barooga – Mr MC & Mrs SC Keamy of 39 Lawson Drive
o Berrigan – Mr B & Mrs V Daly of 130 Chanter Street
o Tocumwal – Mr WC & Mrs WC Tendeson of 38/44 Kelly Street.
A Day of Action protesting the reduction in State Government funding for public library
services took place at the Tocumwal and Berrigan libraries as part of a statewide
initiative.
JANUARY
A decision was made to upgrade netball facilities in the Shire in order to meet recently
imposed risk management standards.
The Ballerini case approached completion with the Council finally receiving most of its
costs associated with the Ballerini public liability claim from the HIH Rescue Package.
The Council had been paying $1,000 a day in interest costs on the advance since
December 2005. These costs were not reimbursable through the package.
Collection bins in each town were established for the MobileMuster program which aims
to recycle mobile phone handsets, batteries, chargers and accessories to recover plastics
and metals that can then be turned into plastic fence posts, jewellery and stainless steel
products.
The Shire‟s Annual Australia Day celebration was held at the Berrigan Golf and Bowling
Club.
Water restrictions were eased from Stage 3a to Stage 3.
FEBRUARY
The State Government announced an inquiry into the provision of water and sewerage
services by non-metropolitan services. There is a significant risk that Berrigan Shire
Council will lose control of water and sewerage services which is a major part of the
Council‟s operations and will have a negative impact on the Council‟s capacity to deliver
other activities. The Council took part in the inquiry process.
The Corowa Berrigan Zone Bush Fire Management Committee sought community input
for the redevelopment of the local Bush Fire Risk Management Plan.
Luke Brooks was announced as the recipient of the 2008 Berrigan Shire Accommodation
Scholarship. Luke will be provided with accommodation for a year while undertaking
study towards a Bachelor of Education (Primary) degree at CSU Wagga Wagga.
The Blokes Day Out was held at Pretty Pine, with several buses from Berrigan Shire
transporting locals to the event.
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MARCH
Cr. Alyson Webster resigned from the Council due to increased business commitments.
The Council requested deferral of the election until the ordinary election in September.
APRIL
Finley High School received $2,000 in funding from the NSW Government and Berrigan
Shire Council to conduct activities and events during Youth Week. A day of activities
based on a gangster theme was organised by the SRC for Friday 11 April, with students
encouraged to come dressed as their favourite gangster or rapper.
Berrigan Shire Council in conjunction with South West Arts and Southern Riverina Arts
Council hosted a performance of the Guiseppe Verdi Opera La Traviata by the Co-Opera
company. The performance was held in Tocumwal.
Consultation meetings for the 2008-11 Social/Community Plan were held throughout the
Shire.
Applications for funding through the Local Heritage Fund were sought. The fund was
established by Berrigan Shire Council with a grant from the NSW Heritage Office.
MAY
National Simultaneous Storytime for Pre-Schoolers was held at the Barooga and Finley
Libraries.
Meetings were held in each town to outline the proposed water charge changes from 1
July. Attendance at the meetings was disappointing especially considering the proposed
significant increases in water charges as a result of the State imposed consumption based
charging model, and the present and ongoing water restrictions.
Increased election costs of about 150% were announced by the NSW Electoral
Commission following the introduction of a legislated monopoly by the State. This
increase will consume almost half of the Council‟s allowable rate increase (also set by the
State). Given that the level of service is expected to decline, the Council is refusing to
meet the exorbitant costs.
The Draft Management Plan for 2008-09 was adopted. The Plan includes an overall
increase in the ordinary rate of 3.2% representing the maximum permissible amount
allowed by the Minister for Local Government in accordance with the general rate
capping provisions of the Local Government Act 1993. This will result in an average farm
rate of $1,622, an average town rate of $622 and an average rural residential rate of $505.
The new Berrigan Library was opened for business with extended hours. Improved
facilities include 4 new public access computers, a wireless internet “hot spot” and a
Playstation console as well as the usual books, magazines, CDs and DVDs available at the
old premises.
The State Minister for Emergency Services Nathan Rees and the Commissioner of the
NSW Rural Fire Service, Shane Fitzsimmons opened the extensions to the
Corowa/Berrigan Zone Fire Management Centre in Corowa.
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JUNE
45 participants from the local area attended a Grant Writing workshop held in Finley. The
seminars were sponsored by the Central Murray Area Consultative Committee, with
Natalie Bramble from Our Community facilitating the sessions. Attendees gained valuable
information on the secrets of developing a project, sourcing project funding proposals and
the steps to take in submitting an application.
The 5th Annual Berrigan Shire Employment Expo was held at Finley High School. The
Expo is about bringing together businesses and students to learn more about local job
opportunities and help establish relationships that will lead to future jobs for the students.
All students were involved in a business visit of their choosing, and former Young
Business Person of the Year Michael McQueen attended the day to run sessions with the
students on personal growth and goal setting.
Berrigan Shire Council was rated in the top ten performing Councils in NSW in the
Department of Planning‟s Local Development Performance Monitoring. The Council has
the lowest average determination times in the State for all determinations, determinations
for single residential developments and determinations for alterations and additions. These
results are a credit to the Council itself but more directly to the staff that have actually
produced these results.
Recent changes to the legislation in NSW means that Councils will now have greater
responsibility for food safety in their local areas.
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CR JOHN BRUCE

CR BERNARD CURTIN

Mayor
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Deputy Mayor
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CR DEBRA WRIGHT

Elected: 11 September 1999

Elected: 14 October 2005
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Elected: 27 March 2004
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Berrigan Shire Council Profile
Berrigan Shire is strategically
POPULATION BY TOWN
located on the Murray River, in the
2500
heart of the agriculturally rich
Southern Riverina region of NSW.
Covering 2067 square kilometres,
2000
the Shire has a population of
around 8446 people and includes
1500
the towns of Barooga, Berrigan,
Finley and Tocumwal. Finley is the
Shire's largest town with a
1000
population of around 2170.
Tocumwal has a population of
500
about 1980, Barooga around 1560,
and Berrigan 950. The remaining
population live in rural areas. Each
0
town has a strong retail and service
Barooga
Berrigan
Finley
T ocumwal
Non-town
Areas
sector that meets the needs of its
local and visiting population. The Shire also has health and education infrastructure that is the
envy of other areas.
Agriculture in the area is diverse with livestock, pasture crops, grains, oilseeds, vegetables,
fruit, wine grapes and dairy production among a range of agricultural pursuits. Unlike many
other rural areas across Australia, all of the towns within the Shire are experiencing positive
residential growth with the most rapid changes being seen in Tocumwal and Barooga. Growth
in Barooga is largely being driven by industrial and commercial development across the river
in Victoria, whilst growth in Tocumwal is being fuelled by the "inland sea-change"
phenomenon that is bringing large numbers of retirees to the area.
Whilst primary production has been a key factor in facilitating growth within the Shire in the
past, in more recent years off-farm industries have grown markedly, with a significant base of
small and medium sized manufacturing and processing firms being established. Similarly the
growth of service related businesses has continued, mainly driven by the tourism industry
based along the Murray River and the farming sector.
Berrigan Shire offers its population vibrant healthy communities where life is a pleasure.
With the low cost of living, residents enjoy a laid-back lifestyle, recreational pursuits, good
health services and the benefits of being close to major regional cities like Albury Wodonga
and Shepparton, while Melbourne is just under three hours drive away. It‟s the type of
location many can only dream of!
These attributes have led to a situation where all towns within the Shire are experiencing
positive residential growth, with the highest growth rates being experienced in Barooga and
Tocumwal. While this speaks well for the sustainability of the area, it does provide a number
of challenges in terms of servicing the social and infrastructure needs of changing
communities.
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Organisational Profile
HISTORY
Berrigan Shire Council was constituted on 7 March 1906 with the initial meeting of the
temporary Council held in the local Court House on 13 June 1906. The first meeting of the
Council was held on Friday 30 November 1906.
TOWNSHIPS
The Shire includes the four townships of Barooga, Berrigan, Finley and Tocumwal.
AREA
2067 square kilometres.
POPULATION
The estimated residential population of Berrigan Shire as at 30 June 2007 was 8,446 people.
The Council estimates that the urban population is increasing, while the rural population is in
decline. Overall population is fairly stable with a slight increase in the last 12 months.
Estimated town populations are as follows:
Barooga
1,560
Berrigan
942
Finley
2,168
Tocumwal
1,976
The remaining population of approximately 1,800 persons live in rural areas of the Shire.
COUNCIL STAFF
The Council is one of the Shire‟s major employers and employs the full-time equivalent of 82
staff members.
VALUATION BASE
For the purposes of rating, “land value” may be defined as the value a parcel of land might be
expected to realise if offered for sale, assuming that no improvement had been made (other
than land improvements). In 2007/08 the value of rateable property in Berrigan Shire was
$426,102, 821.
ASSESSMENTS
No. of Assessments

%

June 2008

June 2007

Change

Water

3,534

3,480

1.5%

Sewer

3,357

3,223

4.0%

General (Rateable)

4,797

4,566

5.0%

ROAD LENGTHS
Urban Roads
Rural Roads
Regional Roads
Total Roads

123
1,137
108
1,368

km
km
km
km

(The above total excludes the Riverina & Newell Highways (88km within Berrigan Shire), of which the Council has full financial
responsibility for the outside trafficable improved pavement lanes of around 6km of road.)
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Organisational Structure
GENERAL MANAGER
Rowan Perkins

ORG & ECONOMIC
DEVELOPMENT

GENERAL MANAGER‟S
PERSONAL ASSISTANT

Melissa Tooke

Alva Spence

ECON. DEV. OFFICER

SUPPORT OFFICER

Gary Bebbington

Stacey Trives

DIR CORPORATE
SERVICES

DIR TECHNICAL SERVICES
Fred Exton

Matthew Hansen

TRAINEE

DEVELOPMENT MANAGER

Brittany Dunn

Wayne Chisholm

Senior Admin Officer
Kellie White

Building Surveyor
Paul Riley

LIBRARY MANAGER
Anne Nevins

2.0 EFT

Town Planner
Laurie Stevens

FINANCE MANAGER
Angela Slater

Enviro Liaison Officer
Scott Ansell

Storeperson
David Hughes

EXECUTIVE ENGINEER

Payroll Officer

Graham Henderson

Karen Hanna

Technical Officer Assets
Management

Accounts Clerk
Laura Clements

Tony Davis

Design Officer

Information Technology

Shannon Galea

Peter Murphy

Technical Officer Design
Len Soule

Finance Officer
Arlena Pyle

Revenue Officer

WORKS ENGINEER

Shane Jukes

Phil McDonald

38 EFT
Water Revenue
Officer

Trainee Surveillance Officer
Andrew Reeves

Geoff Pitt

Assistant Revenue Officer
Jillien van Bommel

ENVIRONMENTAL ENGINEER
Muneeb Sunna
10 EFT

Administration Officer
Melissa Arnold

EARLY INTERVENTION
Margaret Graham

COMMUNITY SERV.
COORDINATOR
Libby Quick
.5 EFT

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT
OFFICER
Andrew Richardson
(.6 PART TIME ONLY)
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Departmental Responsibility

TECHNICAL SERVICES

CORPORATE SERVICES

Director: Mr Fred Exton

Director: Mr Matthew Hansen

Areas of Responsibility:

Areas of Responsibility:

Roads

Water & Sewerage

Administration

Bush Fire Control

Bridges

Health Services

Finance

HACC Services

Depot

Building Control

Rates & Charges

Tourism

Animal Control

Waste Control

Land Sales

Human Resources

Footpaths

Town Planning

Saleyards

Cemeteries

Drainage

Council Buildings

Early Intervention

Aerodrome

Parks & Gardens

Development

Public Officer (FOI)

Caravan Parks

Community Assistance

Social & Cultural
Planning

Libraries
Swimming Pools
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Representatives on State/Regional Organisations and Council
Committees
COUNCIL COMMITTEES
Committee

Representative

Technical Services

All Councillors with a quorum of 2

Environmental Services

All Councillors with a quorum of 2

Corporate Services

All Councillors with a quorum of 2

Business and Economic Development

Crs. J Bruce, D Wright, J Hawkins and B Curtin with a
quorum of 2

Consultative Committee

Crs. J Bruce and V McGee

Barooga Advancement Group

Crs. J Bruce and A Webster

Finley Community Planning Committee

Crs. F Cuthbert, J Hawkins and D Wright

Tocumwal Swimming Pool Committee of Management

Cr. E McLaurin

Finley Saleyards Committee

Crs. E McLaurin, J Hawkins and V McGee

Finley Recreation Reserve Committee of Management

Cr. D Wright

Finley Showground and Sporting Complex Committee of
Management

Cr. F Cuthbert

Risk Management Committee

Mayor

REGIONAL ORGANISATIONS
Committee

Delegate/Representative

Central Murray County Council (Noxious Plants)

Crs. E McLaurin and V McGee

Central Murray Flood Plain Management Committee

Cr. E McLaurin and the Development Manager

Murray Darling Association

Crs. B Curtin, V McGee and J Hawkins

Rural Fire Service District Liaison Committee

Crs. J Bruce, E McLaurin and the Director of Corporate
Services.

South West Arts

Crs. E McLaurin and D Wright

Murray Rivers Crossing Group

Crs J Bruce and the General Manager

Finley Health Forum

Crs B Curtin, F Cuthbert and A Webster

Doctor Co-location Working Party

Cr. B Curtin and the General Manager

Conduct Committee

The Mayor, General Manager, Gerard McCarthy (Solicitor)
and the Chief Executive Officer of Moira Shire Council

Murray ROC

The Mayor and the General Manager

Murray Valley Community Action Group

Cr. J Hawkins

Old Cobram Barooga Bridge Committee

Cr. J Bruce

Tocumwal Bends

Cr. J Bruce
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Committees of Management
The following Committees of Management operate under Section 355 of the Local
Government Act, 1993:
Australia Day Committee
Barooga Advancement Group
Barooga Community Botanical Gardens Committee
Barooga Recreation Reserve
Berrigan Conservation & Tidy Towns
Berrigan Shire Heritage Committee
Berrigan Sportsground Committee
Berrigan War Memorial Hall
Berrigan War Memorial Swimming Pool
Berriquin Community Toy Library
Boomanoomana Landcare Committee
Finley Log Cabin Museum & Mary Lawson Wayside Rest Committee
Finley Community Help Group
Finley Pioneer Rail Committee
Finley Railway Park
Finley Recreation Reserve Committee of Management
Finley Showground Sporting Complex Committee
Finley Tidy Towns
Finley War Memorial Hall & School of Arts
Finley War Memorial Swimming Pool
Fullers Road Landcare
Native Dog Landcare Group
Retreat Public Hall
Tocumwal Foreshore
Tocumwal Friends of the Library Group
Tocumwal Historical Aerodrome Museum
Tocumwal Rail Preservation Committee
Tocumwal Recreation Reserve Committee
Tocumwal Swimming Pool Committee
Tocumwal War Memorial Hall
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Community Financial Report
The Community Financial Report is designed to interpret and explain the Council‟s financial
position to interested parties, including the general community, in an easy to understand
format. It is a summary only, more detailed information can be found in the Council‟s
Audited Financial Statements which are at the rear of this report.
In the 2006/07 Financial Year, the Council was required to bring to account legal costs
awarded against it in the Ballerini case (and the corresponding reimbursement from the HIH
rescue fund). In the 2007/08 Financial Year, the advance from NSW Treasury Corporation
used to fund these legal costs was repaid in full. These transactions were quite large relative
to the Council‟s normal operations, and not in the Council‟s ordinary course of business.
Including these transactions make comparisons across years quite difficult. Where the
Ballerini case has a significant effect, a separate diagram has been provided or detail is given
in the explanatory notes.

Income Statement
These figures demonstrate that while Berrigan Shire Council has been able to provide
increased services to the community while maintaining a surplus of funds from our yearly
operations, the Council is actually running at a loss before capital grants and contributions
received by the Council are taken into account. This means that the Council did not generate
sufficient funds to meet its expenses from its own activities and relied on grants and
developer contributions for items such as the replacement and restoration of its assets into the
future.
2007/08 Result
Total revenue (funds received)

$16.2 m

Less total expenses (funds spent)

$15.2 m

Surplus (funds remaining for future projects)

$1.0 m

COMPARATIVE TREND ANALYSIS
2003/04

2004/05

2005/061

2006/072

2007/08

Revenue

$13.9 m

$13.6 m

$19.9 m

$15.6 m

$16.2 m

Expenditure

$10.7 m

$11.6 m

$17.5 m

$13.9 m

$15.2 m

Surplus

$1.4 m3

$2.0 m

$2.3 m

$1.7m

$1.0 m

Surplus before
Capital grants
& contribution

($0.4)m3

$1.3m

$0.9m

$1.4m

($0.8)m

1

Includes revenue and expenditure relating to the Ballerini Court Case ($5.205m).
Includes revenue and expenditure relating to the Ballerini Court Case ($0.85m).
3
Includes correction of a $1.8m fundamental error.
2
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Financial Situation
The situation is not unreasonable but is not desirable and will need to be closely monitored.
Returning to a position of making surpluses without capital grants and contributions will be
difficult due to a combination of:
Rising costs of inputs such as labour and oil-based products such as fuel and bitumen
An inflexible revenue raising capacity due largely to the State Government‟s “ratecapping” policy
Commitments to maintain its existing level of expenditure of roads as a result of
accepting grant funding under the Federal Government‟s “Roads to Recovery” scheme
Increasing depreciation costs as a result of the upwards revaluation of the Council‟s
assets through its continuing asset revaluation program. While an increase in the value
of the Council‟s assets improves its Balance Sheet position, it also directly increases
the amount of depreciation on those assets the Council is required to take to the
Income Statement each year.
TOTAL REVENUE - WHERE DID THE MONEY COME FROM?

TOTAL EXPENSES – HOW WAS THE MONEY SPENT?
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Revenue
General rates provide 22% of the Council‟s revenue, with total rates and charges contributing
45% of revenue. The balance is made up of user charges, government grants, profit from
disposal of assets, interest and developer contributions – the largest item being operating
grants and contributions (30%); the single most important source of revenue. Revenue in
2007-08 also includes two large non-cash items:
$822k of infrastructure assets belonging to subdivisions in Barooga and Tocumwal
were handed over the Council by the developers. While this has improved the
Council‟s operating surplus in 2007-08, it will require the Council to depreciate and
maintain these assets over time.
$651k Fair Value adjustment. This relates to the difference between the actual cost of
constructing an asset and the value that the Council is required to show for these assets
in its Balance Sheet.

Balance Sheet
The Balance Sheet measures what the Council owns and owes to relevant stakeholders at the
end of the financial year. The result of these two components determines the net wealth of the
Council, which is the net wealth of the community.
Most of the increase in the Council‟s net asset (equity) position is a result of the revaluation
of the Council‟s Land, Building and Plant and Equipment assets. This revaluation did not
generate any new assets for the Council but brought to account the full value of these assets.
On the other side, it will increase the Council‟s depreciation expense in future years
The Council repaid a $6m advance required to fund legal expenses in the Ballerini decision in
2007/08. The funds to pay this advance came from the Council being paid the amounts owing
to them through the HIH Rescue Package.
2007/08 Result
Assets (what the community owns)

$176.8 m

Less liabilities (what the community owes)

$3.9 m

Equity (community wealth)

$172.9 m

COMPARATIVE TREND ANALYSIS
2003/04

2004/05

2005/064

2006/075

2007/086

Assets

$78.6 m

$84.8 m

$146.3 m

$168.5 m

$176.8 m

Less Liability

$4.3 m

$4.3 m

$8.8 m

$10.2 m

Equity

$74.3 m

$80.5 m

$137.5 m

$158.3 m

$3.9 m
$172.9 m

4

Includes assets and liabilities associated with the Ballerini court case. The large increase in assets is as a result
of the revaluation of the Council‟s road network.
5
Includes assets and liabilities associated with the Ballerini court case. The increase in assets is as a result of the
revaluation of the Council‟s water and sewer network.
6
The increase in assets is as a result of the revaluation of the Council‟s land, buildings and plant and equipment.
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WHAT DO OUR ASSETS CONSIST OF?
Property plant and equipment includes the Council‟s
infrastructure such as roads, water supply, sewerage mains
and treatment, and stormwater and drainage infrastructure. It
also includes buildings owned by the Council, trucks and
heavy machinery, and office equipment.
Property Plant & Equipment:
Roads
Water Supply
Sewerage
Buildings, Land & Improvements
Other Assets
Stormwater
Plant & Equipment

Total Value – $164.4 m
53.0%
15.9%
9.2%
15.9%
1.3%
2.9%
1.8%

Cash assets include the Council‟s bank deposits, term
deposits, managed funds and other cash holdings held for
future use.
Receivables are the funds owed to the Council by other
parties, including ratepayers, government departments and
other organisations.
Inventories include the goods held by the Council for use in
its operations such as fuel, gravel, pipes and the like.

WHAT DO OUR LIABILITIES CONSIST OF?

Provisions cover the amounts put aside by the Council
for future commitments such as employee entitlements
(annual leave, etc) and remediation of the Council‟s tips
and quarries.
Loans include those amounts borrowed by the Council to
fund investments in community assets.
Payables are amounts that the Council owes other parties
and including government departments and suppliers. It
also accounts for rates and charges paid in advance.

How Healthy is Council’s Liquidity?
Another important indication in determining the financial health of an organisation is to
measure its ability to meet commitments when they fall due. This indicator is commonly
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known as the working capital or liquidity ratio and examines the value between short-term
assets and liabilities. A result better than a one-to-one ratio reflects a strong ability by an
organisation to have sufficient funds to continue to maintain its cash flows and hence meet its
commitments.
The liquidity ratio indicates that the Council has the ability to pay its debts as and when they
fall due. The stability of the ratio indicates the strength of the Council's position and is
consistent with the strong liquidity position of prior years. The decline in the ratios during
2005/06 and 2006/07 years relates mainly to an increase in current liabilities as a result of the
NSW Treasury advance taken to pay out damages and legal costs awarded in the Ballerini
case.
LIQUIDITY RATIO

CASH & INVESTMENT BALANCES FOR THE LAST 5 YEARS ($000’S)
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What is Council’s Debt Strategy?
Berrigan Shire Council is required to effectively manage its level of debt while allowing for
efficient use of loan funds where appropriate. To do this the Council has developed a debt
strategy. In broad terms, the strategy allows borrowing in areas that create a financial return
on the assets Council invests in – such as water supply, sewerage and property development.
The strategy discourages borrowing for those activities where a financial return is not possible
or desired, including road construction, offices, libraries and sporting facilities. The strategy
allows the Council sufficient flexibility to borrow funds in these areas if necessary.
The following reflects the Council‟s total outstanding debt over the past five years, and the
commitment to manage debt matched against a capital works expenditure program. The
Council has been able to maintain its capital expenditure while continuing to repay loans. In
2005 and 2006, the effects of the Ballerini decision on Council‟s debt levels can be seen.
DEBT VS. CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

* The above graph includes the debts or expenditure relating the Ballerini court case.

DEBT PER CAPITA
The debt per capita ratio shows how much debt is shared by the Shire‟s residents on a per
capita basis. Council‟s debt per capita ratio has declined from $291 to $120 over the five year
period. The effect of the loan to fund costs incurred in the Ballerini decision can be seen in
the 2005/06 and 2006/07 years.
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PERCENTAGE OF ASSETS FUNDED BY DEBT
This ratio demonstrates the percentage of Council assets funded by debt. This ratio has
shown a steady decline over the five year period and indicates that 0.6% of Council's assets
are funded by debt. Again, the large increases in 2005/06 and 2006/07 are as a result of the
loans required to fund the Ballerini costs. The ratio indicates that the Council maintains a
moderate level of borrowings. The improvement in this ratio over the five year period has two
main causes; the continuing debt repayment program and the increasing value of the
Council‟s assets.
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Statement of Cash Flows
The Council began the year with cash and investments valued at $10.8m. Despite some large
capital expenditure on projects such as the Berrigan Library, this position remained stable in
2007/08, with the Council finishing the year with cash and investments worth $10.9m.
Looking forward, the Council‟s short and long term cash focus indicate that sufficient cash is
available to meet recurring activities and planned future capital expenditure.
2007/08 Results
Opening balance

$7.9m

Plus cash received

$24.2m

Less cash spent

$24.5m

Cash available at year end

$7.6m

Investments (term deposits, managed funds etc.)

$3.3m

Total cash and investments

$10.9m

2006/07

2007/08

Net cash received from day to day trading
operations

$4.6 m

$12.5m

New loans

$1.8 m

Nil

Purchase of assets (net)

$6.6 m

$5.9 m

Repayment of debts

$0.4 m

$6.5 m

* These figures include amounts received from the HIH rescue package and repayment of the NSW Treasury Corporation
advance following the Ballerini court case.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
This statement measures the change in the Council‟s net wealth and considers such items as
retained earnings, re-valuations of the asset base and reserves held for future capital works.
ANALYSIS OF COMMUNITY WEALTH

The community ownership in the infrastructure and services the Council provides is growing
steadily. A portion of the community wealth is cash-backed by an appropriate level of
reserves held to plan for future projects, which, with financial planning, can place less
reliance on loan borrowing in meeting the needs of the community.
The increase in community wealth in 2007/08 relates to the revaluation of the Council‟s land,
building, plant and equipment assets. The value of these assets was previously
underestimated.

Summary
The Council will need to monitor its operating position closely in the next few years to ensure
that it continues to maintain its very strong balance sheet and cash position. Increases in the
Council‟s costs combined with community pressure to provide a larger range of services at a
higher quality on a fixed revenue base will test the Council‟s ability to maintain this position
going forward. The prolonged drought and the anticipated economic slowdown may also have
a marked effect on the Council‟s financial position in future years
Prudent and conservative financial management and discipline in not taking on additional
obligations requiring large long term fixed financial commitments will be necessary to
maintain the Council‟s strong financial position in an uncertain economic climate.
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Corporate Services
Finance
Finance Report

While 2007/08 was a challenging year, the Finance section has built on the work started in
2006/07. A stable workforce and continued development of systems and processes has seen
the section overcome a series of challenges.
ACHIEVEMENTS
Recovery of Outstanding Rates and Charges – Despite one of the worst droughts in
living memory, the proportion of outstanding rates and annual charges has remained at a
remarkably low level. This is a credit to the resilience of the Shire community and to the
hard work of the Council‟s revenue team. There was no land sold for unpaid rates in
2007/08.
Asset Management – Asset management has once again been an area of real
improvement in 2007/08. An improved system to record and reconcile the Council‟s
water, sewer and roads infrastructure assets has seen significant improvements in the
quality and timeliness of reporting. The new values introduced in 2006/07 have seen a
considerable increase in depreciation charges for this financial year, with a subsequent
effect on the Council‟s operating result.
The Council was statutorily required to revalue its buildings and community land for the
2007/08 financial statements. While the benefits of revaluation are arguable, especially
considering the cost of valuation, it has allowed the Council an opportunity to improve the
quality of its asset register.
Work on incorporating the Council‟s non-infrastructure assets (such as land, buildings and
other improvements such as playgrounds) into its geographical information system is the
next major improvement planned.
HIH Rescue Package – The Ballerini case continued to be a major area of activity for the
Council. After all costs and legal expenses were settled, the Council was able to lodge its
claim for reimbursement under the HIH rescue package, thus finalising the matter.
While the process did, in the end, fund a major proportion of the damages and legal
expenses, the delays built into the process saw the Council having to draw on an advance
from the New South Wales Treasury to fund these costs in the interim.
The Council paid over $700,000 in interest on this advance which was not eligible for
reimbursement. In addition, the Council has had to fund the “absorbed loss” component of
the costs, which totalled $420,000. This of course has had a marked effect on the
Council‟s financial position for the year.

CHALLENGES
Separation of Land and Water – Anomalies in the land valuations supplied by the
Valuer-General for use in setting rates continue to make it difficult for the Council to
establish an equitable rating system. The Council‟s revenue team have prepared
comprehensive reports demonstrating the inequities in the valuations provided, but have
had to work with the values provided.
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These valuation anomalies, together with the 10% farmland rate cap have seen the rating
burden shift over the past two years.
Water Restrictions and Charges – The Council‟s town water service normally receives
around half of its revenue through the levying of consumption charges, i.e. a charge per
kilolitre used. The implementation of water restrictions has seen water consumption fall
drastically throughout the Shire and while this is welcome from an environmental point of
view, the effect on the Council‟s revenue has been drastic.
The costs of providing a town water service are mainly of a fixed nature; using less water
does not, in general, mean a reduction in line breaks, mains replacement and other
operations and maintenance activities that make up the bulk of the cost of providing
treated water.
Revenue reduction on that scale cannot continue without jeopardising the water service‟s
ability to fund future capital works. As a result, a new water charging model was
developed following consultation with the community and will be introduced in 2008/09.
The Council was also prevented from accessing another valuable revenue stream, the sale
of some of its bulk high security water allocation on the market, further placing pressure
on the Council‟s water fund.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES – FINANCE
Objective

Performance Indicator

Outcome/Status

Better manage the Council‟s cash
flows through the implementation of
monthly rather than an annual
budgeting system.

Budgets prepared on a monthly cash
flow basis.
Budget management and reporting
processes improved.

Report financial results to Councillors
in a concise and easily understandable
format.

Reports to Councillors use the
financially sustainable Health Check
format.
Councillors
have
a
better
understanding of the Council‟s
financial position.

 Carried Forward
Progress is continuing on the Asset
Register, including revaluing specific
classes of assets. Financial Reporting
modules in Practical are working well
but the data still needs some work to
allow confidence.

Review the adopted rating model after
the 2007/08 rates have been
implemented to ensure the equitable
distribution of rate efforts across
classes of ratepayers following the
removal of the value of water from
rural rateable values.

Possible
sub
categorisation
of
farmland ratepayers considered and
rating effort distribution considered.

 Completed
A review has been conducted with the
Council retaining the model adopted in
2007/08.

 Completed
The Council monitors cash flows on a
daily basis through its reconciliation
system. Given the additional time
needed to make this system work,
especially from the Technical Services
staff, and with reporting to the Council
done on a quarterly basis, monthly cash
flow budgeting was found to be
unnecessary.
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Contracts in Excess of $150,000

During the year the Council entered into a number of contracts which had a value in excess of
$150,0006:
Contractor Name

Nature of Goods or Services

Contract Type

Estimate

Actual 2006/07

Mack Volvo Albury

Mack Fleetliner

Lump Sum

$201,630.00

$201,630.00

RC & J Lucas

Construction of Berrigan Library

Staged/Project
Payments

$569,969.00

$611,226.65

Oasis Homes – Libro Mustica

Design and Construction of Park
Amenities Building

Staged/Project
Payments

$187,750.00

$194.450.00

Rates and amounts written off during 2007/08

Section 607 of the Local Government Act 1993, and Section 131 of the Local Government
(General) Regulation 2005, list the various circumstances under which either the General
Manager or the Council can endorse the writing off of rates and charges, either by a written
order of the General Manager, and/or the resolution of the Council. These write offs can
include rates, charges and interest raised in error, and small balances that are deemed to be
economically unviable to recover.
In accordance with Schedule 8 Part 26(84) of the Local Government Act 1993, an amount of
$253,799.68 was written off against the ordinary farmland rate. This is part of the transition
arrangements relating to the separation of land and water values for rating purposes. The
amount to be written off was anticipated by the Council and the deficit shared across the other
classes of ratepayers.
Rates and amounts written off during 2007/08 are as follows:
Charge
Ordinary Rates

$1,005.81

Water Charges

$877.37

Water Consumption / Restriction Relief Charges

6

Value

$2,213.76

Sewer / Pedestal Charges

$375.34

Garbage / Domestic Waste Charges

$624.26

Stormwater / Drainage Charges

$315.33

Interest / Legal / Other Charges / Small Balances

$1,465.12

RATES AND CHARGES

$6,876.99

Ordinary Rates – Farmland Capping Write Off

$253,799.68

TOTAL RATES AND CHARGES

$260,676.67

All contracts are GST inclusive.
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Councillor Fees, Expenses and Facilities

The Council, pursuant to Sections 248 and 249 of the Local Government Act 1993, is required
to pay annual fees to the Mayor and Councillors. The level of the fee is determined by the
Council in accordance with the determination of the Local Government Remuneration
Tribunal. In 2007/08 the total amount of money expended during the year on mayoral and
councillor fees was as follows:
MAYORAL AND COUNCILLOR FEES
Fee
Mayoral Fee

Value
7

$18,912.50
8

Provision of Mayoral Vehicle

$13,984.00

Councillor Fees

$67,094.53

TOTAL

$99,991.03

Under Section 252 of the Local Government Act 1993, the Council is required to have a
policy concerning the payment of expenses incurred or to be incurred by, and the provision of
facilities to, the Mayor, Deputy Mayor, and other Councillors in relation to discharging the
functions of civic office. During 2007/08 the total amount expended was as follows:
COUNCILLOR FEES AND EXPENSES
Fee

Value

Facilities
Office Equipment

$3,211.61

Telephone Line Rental

$541.52

Meals & Refreshments at Meetings Convened by the Council

$4,458.38

Council Vehicles

$13,984.00

Expenses
Telephone/Fax Call Costs

$1,261.54

Conferences & Seminars

$7,157.66

Training

$0.00

Local Travel

$11,991.78

Travel Outside of the LGA

$1,648.66

Interstate Travel

$0.00

Overseas Travel

$0.00

Spouse/Partner/Accompanying Person Expenses

$785.00

Carer or Other Related Expenses

$0.00

Legal

$0.00

Subscriptions

$2,279.09

Insurance

$1,700.00

Miscellaneous Expenses

$73.71

TOTAL FEES AND EXPENSES

7
8

$49,092.95

The Mayoral fee is paid in addition to the Councillor‟s fee.
The Mayor contributed $2,600 towards the cost of the Mayor‟s vehicle.
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A copy of the Council‟s policy for the payment of expenses and the provision of facilities for
2007/08 has been attached as Appendix 1.
Senior Staff

The Council employs one Senior Staff member on a performance based contract, being its
General Manager. The total amount payable under this contract in 2007/08 was $158,147,
including fringe benefits, employment on-costs and business and private vehicle use.
Package Component

Value

Total value of salary component of the package

$92,309

Total amount of any bonus payments, performance or other payments that do not form part of the
salary component

$13,870

Total payable superannuation (salary sacrifice and employers contribution)

$27,175

Total value of non-cash benefits

$12,548

Total payable fringe benefits tax for non-cash benefits

$12,245

TOTAL VALUE OF CONTRACT

$158,147

Donations and Grants

Under Section 356 of the Local Government Act 1993, a Council may, in accordance with a
resolution of the Council, contribute money or otherwise grant financial assistance to
persons/organisations for the purpose of exercising its functions. In 2007/08 Berrigan Shire
Council made the following contributions under Section 356 of the Act.
Beneficiary

Grant Paid

Tocumwal Recreation Reserve – Pavilion and Cricket Nets

$101,917

Tocumwal on the Murray Regional Tourism Board

$88,000

Barooga Accommodation Group

$38,000

Barooga Netball Club – Netball Court

$20,000

Berrigan Recreation Reserve – Netball Courts

$20,000

Finley Recreation Reserve – Netball Courts

$20,000

Club Barooga

$6,701

South West Arts

$5,647

Moira Foodshare

$5,000

Lions Club Berrigan – Hayes Park

$4,730

Lions Club Finley – Cemetery Honorarium

$4,540

Lions Club Tocumwal – Cemetery Honorarium

$3,375

NSW Rural Doctors Network

$3,000

Lions Club Berrigan – Cemetery Honorarium

$2,595

Finley High School

$2,380

Berrigan Tennis Club

$1,880

Southern Riverina Gallery – Youth Art Exhibition
TOTAL
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$300
$328,065

In addition to the above contributions, the Council also provided assistance to the following
Council Committees of Management as defined under Section 355 of the Local Government
Act 1993:
Beneficiary

Grant Paid

Tocumwal Swimming Pool

$29,100

Finley War Memorial Swimming Pool

$28,500

Berrigan War Memorial Swimming Pool

$28,000

Finley Showground and Sporting Complex

$10,480

Barooga Recreation Reserve

$10,390

Finley Recreation Reserve

$10,150

Tocumwal Recreation Reserve

$10,130

Berrigan Sportsground Committee

$9,540

Berrigan War Memorial Hall

$6,860

Tocumwal War Memorial Hall

$3,280

Retreat Public Hall

$1,800

TOTAL

$148,230

Land Sales

In the interests of promoting continued economic growth and development, the Council
periodically develops and sells freehold land for both industrial and residential purposes. The
Council carefully manages and releases developed land in a manner that encourages and
promotes private development of a suitable standard. In general, the Council places proceeds
from developed real estate sales into a reserve to fund future land development, making the
Council‟s land development activities self-funding.
In 2007/08 one lot was sold in the Malone Mews residential subdivision in Finley. The
remaining lots in the subdivision have been listed with local agents.
During the year the Council also sold the land associated with the River Murray Heritage
Centre in Tocumwal and the land associated with the former Berrigan Library at 39-41
Chanter Street, Berrigan.
Financial information on the sale of developed real estate is provided in Note 5 of the 2007/08
General Purpose Financial Statements.
Condition of Public Works and Buildings

Under Section 428(2) (d) of the Local Government Act 1993, the Council is required to
provide a report on the condition of public works (including public buildings, public roads,
and water, sewerage and drainage works) under the control of the Council as at the end of the
financial year. The following statement outlines the estimated cost (at current values) of
bringing assets to a satisfactory standard, the estimated annual expense of maintaining the
works at that standard, and the programmed maintenance works undertaken in 2007/08.
Additional information is available in Special Schedule 7 of the Annual Financial Statements.
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Asset Category

Estimated cost to bring to
a satisfactory standard

Estimated annual
maintenance expense

Program maintenance
works for current year

$000‟s

$000‟s

$000‟s

Buildings

1,019

105

149

Public Roads

1,703

1,539

1,631

Water

995

242

242

Sewerage

750

131

131

Drainage Works

350

81

81

4,817

2,098

2,234

TOTAL

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES – BUILDING MAINTENANCE
Objective

Performance Indicator

Outcome/Status

Conduct a review of the 1996 CMM
report to assess the condition of
Council owned structures and the
effectiveness of the Council‟s building
maintenance program.

Production of an updated status report
of all Council owned structures.

 Ongoing
Report is under review.

Prepare a new report to show the level
of improvement in Council owned
structures due to the maintenance
program.

An assessment of the effectiveness of
the existing maintenance budget.

Identify further required maintenance
work of Council owned structures and
an estimate of cost.

Estimate of the ongoing budgetary
needs for building maintenance
established.
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 Incomplete
Project has been recommenced due to a
reduction in building activity within
the Shire.
 Incomplete
Project has been recommended due to a
reduction in building activity within
the Shire.

Administration
LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
The following is a summary of the amounts incurred by the Council during 2007/08 by way
of legal proceedings taken by or against the Council.
The Council has been involved in ongoing litigation over a planning matter involving an
application for a two lot subdivision at Tocumwal. The application was originally refused by
the Council based on sound planning guidelines. The developers then appealed the Council‟s
decision in the Land and Environment Court and the matter was heard following a site
inspection on 9 April 2008. Judgment by the Court was handed down on 21 May 2008,
dismissing the appeal against the Council‟s refusal for the subdivision. In defending the
appeal the costs to date were estimated by the Council‟s lawyers to be in the vicinity of
$60,000-$70,000 plus GST.
Following advice from its solicitors, the Council then made an application to have costs
awarded against the appellant. This hearing was held on 2 September 2008 and the Council
was awarded partial costs, being half the costs of retaining an expert witness ($8,800) and the
Costs of the Notice of Motion. This costs order was then appealed against by the appellant.
At the time of writing, the matter of costs has not been concluded.
OTHER LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
During the year the Council commenced proceedings against 62 assessments for unpaid rates
and charges at a total cost of $31,158.93. Collection procedures are in place for the recovery
of all monies, with both outstanding debts and the legal costs being recoverable under the
Local Government Act 1993. It is the Council‟s policy that recovery proceedings for unpaid
rates may be deferred until the outstanding debt reaches $300.00.
External bodies exercising functions delegated by the Council

The Council does not delegate any functions to external bodies.
Interest in Companies

The Council did not have a controlling interest in any companies during the reporting period.
Partnerships, Co-operatives or Other Joint Ventures

The Council is a shareholder in the Strategic Purchasing Scheme which is a co-operative
purchasing organisation that aims to provide high quality goods and services at the most
competitive price to the Council.
The National Saleyards Quality Assurance Ltd. is a company of which the Council is a
shareholder. The company aims to provide assistance to the owners of saleyards in
implementing quality assurance principles in the operation of saleyards.
The Council is also a shareholder of Murray Irrigation Limited which is the irrigation water
supply authority for the area in southern NSW bounded by Mulwala to the east and
Moulamein to the west.
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The Council is a member of Statecover Mutual and Statewide Mutual. These organisations
provide Workcover and other general insurance respectively to member councils.
The Council is a member of RAM ROC (Riverina and Murray Regional Organisation of
Councils) which is a regional organisation of Councils that provides lobbying on regional
issues and aims to eliminate duplication amongst the member Councils.
The Council is a member of the Shires Association of NSW which represents the views of
councils by presenting councils views to governments, promoting local government to the
community, and providing specialist advice and services. As part of the Council‟s
membership to the Shires Association the Council is also a member of Local Government
Procurement (LGP), which provides integrated procurement services to Councils.
Business Activities

The Council has not identified any Category 1 businesses as defined by the Department of
Local Government‟s Pricing and Costing for Council Businesses – A Guide to Competitive
Neutrality (1997). The Council has however identified the following operations as Category 2
business activities:
Water Service
Sewerage Service
Finley Saleyards
Despite being identified as Category 2 businesses, the Council‟s water and sewer services
meet all reporting and competitive neutrality requirements for Category 1 business activities.
Neither service has adopted the “corporatisation model” as they have been recognised as
Category 2 businesses by the Council. In 2007/08 the turnover from water services was below
the $2 million per annum threshold for a Category 2 business activity ($1.97m). Turnover
from the sewerage service remains below the threshold at $1.4m.
The Council‟s Saleyards Service, turnover $139,000, meets all Category 2 business
requirements.
The Council‟s pricing policy for all services was reviewed in 2001/02 and a user pays pricing
system for water consumption was introduced in 2006/07.
The Council does not believe that there will be a significant level of complaints relating to
competitive neutrality and has therefore resolved to include any complaints received within its
adopted complaints mechanisms. At 30 June 2008 no complaints had been received for
2007/08. The Council provides regular advice to the public, including fax back forms and a
complaints mechanism through the Council‟s website to encourage participation in relation to
customer service requests or complaints.
Overseas Visits

No overseas visits were taken by Councillors, council staff or other persons while
representing the Council during 2007/08 (including visits sponsored by other organisations).
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Work Carried Out on Private Land

The Council did not make any resolutions regarding work carried out on private land in
accordance with Section 67(3) of the Local Government Act 1993. The implication of the lack
of any such resolution is that the Council did not provide any subsidised services on private
land.
Privacy and Personal Information

The Council has adopted a Privacy Management Plan under Section 33 of the Privacy and
Personal Information Protection Act 1998 and has made all staff aware of the requirements
under the Act. All office staff and the mangers of the Saleyards, HACC and Library Services
received training on the provisions of the Act in November 2004 by an outside contractor,
Timmins Consulting. All new staff members address privacy issues as part of their induction
process. The Director Corporate Services and Revenue Officer received additional training in
privacy and freedom of information issues during 2007/08.
No complaints or enquiries were received during the financial year.
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Human Resources
Human Resource Activities undertaken by the Council

The Council‟s primary human resources activities over the previous 12 month period relate to
the training of staff to comply with WorkCover and other statutory regulations. The move
towards online training has continued with 7 online training courses being delivered during
the year. This mode of delivery reduces overall training costs and makes training accessible to
greater numbers of staff members.
During 2007/08 six new staff inductions were undertaken, providing new staff members with
a thorough understanding of their Occupational Health & Safety (OH&S), Equal Employment
Opportunity (EEO) and corporate responsibilities.
TRAINING UNDERTAKEN IN 2007/08
Course Description

Number of Participants

Electrical Hazards Awareness

37

Blue Card

26

Confined Space Refresher

17

Bonded Asbestos Removal

16

First Aid

14

Introduction to Chemical Handling (Lifeguards)

10

Certificate III Water Industry

6

Practical Online Training

5

Traffic Control Worksite Planning (Red Card)

4

Levelling & Civil Construction Plan Reading

3

Councils & the Public Access to Information

2

Design & Audit Traffic Control Plans (Orange Card)

2

Local Government Workshop

2

Practical User Conference

2

Taxed Online Training

2

Team Member to Team Leader

2

Aerodrome Management

1

Australia Wide Taxation & Payroll Training

1

Basic Airfield Lighting

1

Certificate III in Automotive Mechanical – Heavy Vehicle Road Transport)

1

Chainsaw Operations (Level 1)

1

CPA Business Writing Workshop

1

Graduate Certificate in Risk Management

1

NSW Annual Financial Statements Training

1

Powers & Duties of a Local Government Engineer

1

Public Health Emergency Management

1

Records Management

1

Taxed FBT Workshop

1
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Equal Opportunity Management

The Council supports and ensures that the Berrigan Shire Council Equal Employment and
Opportunity (EEO) Policy is understood and complied with by all employees. All employees
have the opportunity to participate in the Council induction program that includes awareness
of EEO. In 2007/08 six new staff members, or approximately 8% of the total workforce, took
part in this program.
Each individual within the council is treated on their ability to perform the duties of their job
with no bias towards gender, race, ethnic background, religion, age, marital status or sexual
preference. Access and facilities for the aged and disabled are taken into account in the design
of new facilities, and the Council has the capability of offering a modified workplace for
persons with a disability.
Berrigan Shire Council committee members are selected to ensure that both the Council and
employee views and interests are adequately represented.
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Community and Cultural Activities
A major new initiative for the Council in 2007/08 was the appointment of a Community
Development Officer (CDO). The CDO is responsible for providing the community with
direction on how to access resources including external funding, provide assistance to Section
355 Committees and offer assistance relating to community projects. The CDO also oversees
the implementation of the Council‟s Social/Community Plan and Cultural Plan.
Access and Equity

Access and equity strategies are defined by the NSW Department of Local Government as
those activities that benefit the broad community and/or particular target groups. In 2008, the
Council adopted its fourth Social/Community Plan. This plan covers the period from 1 July
2008 to 30 June 2011 with the recommendations to be implemented by the Council through
the Management Planning process. Copies of the plan are available on request from the
Berrigan Shire Administration Centre or through the Council website.
The strategies in the Social/Community Plan aim to benefit eight specific target groups within
the Shire. These are:
Children;
Young People;
The Aged;
People with Disabilities;
Aboriginal People;
Women;
People from Culturally and Linguistically Diverse Backgrounds; and
Residents not part of the mandatory groups (i.e. the rural community and men).
In addition to the items identified in the Council‟s Social/Community Plan, a number of
activities based on access and equity principles have been pursued. These include:
Youth Week at Finley High School;
The Local Employment Expo at Finley High School;
Support for the Tocumwal 150 year celebrations;
Developing and administering a Crime Prevention Committee in Finley;
Assistance towards the development of the Berrigan Multi-purpose health service;
Representation to the Victorian Government regarding adequate public transport; and
Continuing drought support efforts including supporting the local Centacare Drought
Support Officer in Finley and support of the Cobram Foodbank.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES – SOCIAL/COMMUNITY PLAN
Objective

Performance Indicator

Coordinate the construction of walking
tracks to move people safely from one
area to another and provide additional
opportunities for passive recreation.

Investigate the viability of a walking
track that incorporates the Old
Berrigan Tank Reserve in conjunction
with the Berrigan Service Clubs,
Berrigan Conservation Group and the
Community.
Assist the community to obtain a grant
for the development of the walking
track.
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Outcome/Status
 Carried Forward
The Council has committed $8,500 in
the 2008/09 Budget towards the
construction of a path in Jerilderie
Street, Berrigan. The local community
has been able to source additional
funding to complete the project.

Implement activities that reduce the
social isolation of women within the
community.

Participate in international women‟s
weeks.
Greater awareness of women‟s issues
within the community.

Provide funding to existing arts
organisations that are in a position to
assist
the
Council
with
the
implementation of some of the
objectives within its Social and
Community Plan.

Southern Riverina Arts Council
provided with funding to assist with
the delivery of some of the objectives
in the Council‟s Social and
Community Plan.
Specifically agreed objectives attained.

Create employment and provide a
venue for stock sales and social
interaction through the successful
operation of the Finley Saleyards.

Financially support the operation of
the Finley Saleyards.

Ensure that footpath access for the
aged or disabled is not hindered by
traders placing advertising or materials
for sale on footpaths.

Footpath trading policy developed and
implemented.
Footpath access for disabled and aged
persons enhanced.

 Carried Forward
This activity has been rolled over to the
2008-11 Social Plan.
 Completed
Southern Riverina Arts Council has
communicated a reluctance to become
the overarching project coordinator for
all Shire sponsored cultural activities.
However, relationships have been
established with Southern Riverina
Arts Council, South West Arts and
other local cultural groups to help
achieve the delivery of local programs.
The 2008-11 Cultural Plan identifies
other methods of reaching targeted
groups.
 Completed
The Council continues to provide
funding towards the operation of the
Finley Saleyards despite the prevailing
economic conditions, allowing for
valuable social interaction amongst
rural residents.
The Council sought expressions of
interest from the private sector to take
on the operation of the yards in an
effort to maintain the facility‟s
sustainability.
 Carried Forward
Preparation of a footpath trading policy
has commenced. Finalisation of the
document has been carried forward to
2008/09.

Cultural and Linguistic Diversity

Berrigan Shire residents continue to be almost entirely from English speaking backgrounds.
Of the 6.4% of the Shire population born overseas, 3.9% were born in English speaking
countries. The remaining 2.5% (200 people) come from a diverse range of ethnic and
linguistic backgrounds. In addition, only 1.3% of the population identify as being from an
Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander background.
As a result of the low levels of demand, the Council did not undertake any specific programs
to promote services, or access to services, for people from culturally and linguistically diverse
backgrounds. The Council does however endeavour to provide services consistent with the
principles of multiculturalism as they are required.
Cultural Services

Berrigan Shire Council, in conjunction with South West Arts and after consultation with the
community, adopted a new Cultural Plan in 2008 in accordance with the Cultural Planning
Guidelines released by the Department of Local Government and the NSW Ministry for the
Arts.
The Cultural Plan covers the period from July 2008 to June 2011 and explores what matters to
Berrigan Shire residents and the community as a whole. The plan aims to:
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Promote the cultural wellbeing of the Shire;
Enable the Council to devise and implement cultural processes consistent with broader
objectives;
Enable the Council to identify and implement cultural processes consistent with broader
objectives;
Enable the Council to identify the interrelationships between its activities and policies and
recognise the cultural implications for a genuine “whole of council” approach to cultural
planning;
Emphasise community engagement and creative expression of values and aspirations;
Allow this expression of values and aspirations to inform council policies and decision,
thereby bringing the culture of government to that of the communities within the Shire;
and,
Improve links with other spheres of government in order to increase opportunities for
partnerships and funding.
Items in the Cultural Plan are incorporated into the Council‟s Management Planning process
and copies of the Plan are available in hard copy from the office or through the website.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES – CULTURAL PLAN
Objective

Performance Indicator

Outcome/Status

To better meet the cultural needs of
young people within the community
that are not as well serviced as
sporting activities.

Work with Southern Riverina Arts to
provide musical activities for young
people in the Shire.
Additional musical activities made
available to young people within the
Shire.

 Completed
The Council has worked with South
West Arts to bring a range of artistic
workshops to the community covering
music, drama and art. These included
an African drummer workshop in
March, 2008.

Maintain aboriginal culture through
aboriginal art and drama.

Opportunities
available
through
cultural arts programs explored in
conjunction with South West Arts.
Aboriginal art and culture enhanced.

 Completed
The Council provided financial support
and promotional assistance to an
Indigenous Art Exhibition held at the
Southern Riverina Gallery.

Develop an improved awareness of
what cultural groups, and what cultural
activities are happening in Berrigan
Shire.

Conduct a cultural audit.
Better networking between groups
achieved.

Investigate the viability of a cultural
walking track.

Viability of project determined.

Arrange for people to be trained in the
taking of oral histories so that the
knowledge of local history from
ageing residents can be recorded and
preserved.

People trained.
Oral histories preserving the Shire‟s
heritage recorded.
Improved awareness of the Shire‟s
heritage.

Assist
individuals
involved
in
community cultural organisations to
obtain training so that they can
develop the skills necessary to
successfully
operate
those
organisations.

Partnership developed with Museums
and Galleries NSW to assist with the
delivery of skills development
programs.
Skills
development
programs
delivered.

 Carried Forward
The
Council
has
distributed
information to local museums on
courses run by Museums NSW. The
Council is also working with South
West Arts to facilitate the local
delivery of training programs

Assist local community organisations
delivering cultural activities to expand
their volunteer base.

Strategy to assist cultural organisations
to recruit volunteers developed.
Volunteer bases expanded.

 Carried Forward
The Council has met with the Albury
Wodonga Volunteer Bureau to deliver
strategies to retain and train volunteers.
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 Completed
In undertaking the development of the
new Cultural Plan, alternative methods
of achieving this objective were
identified.
 Carried Forward
Not yet commenced.
 Carried Forward
The project has been modified so that
skilled oral historians will be used to
take the recordings.

Provide volunteers at local museums
with assistance to develop policies and
procedures to enhance their operations
and collections.

Assistance sought from the NSW
Heritage Office for training volunteers
in
areas
such
as
collection
development
policies,
storage
procedures, showcasing and marketing
and promotion strategies.
Improved viability and practices
within local museums.

Provide support to Tocumwal Heritage
Aerodrome Museum (THAM) to have
Tocumwal recognised as the site of an
historic wartime aerodrome.

Tocumwal recognised as the home of
the largest WW2 aerodrome.

Develop a strategy to assist and
support cultural organisations within
the Shire to attract volunteers to help
with the achievement of their
objectives.

Strategy developed to assist groups in
the recruitment of volunteers.
More volunteers for cultural groups
sourced.

Establish Council‟s cemetery records
as an important resource for people
pursuing genealogical studies.

The Council‟s Grave-finder software is
made available through the Visitor
Information Centre and its Library
Branches.
Training in the use of the software
provided.
Greater awareness of the history of our
Shire.

Develop Jerilderie Library as part of
the Berrigan Shire Library Service so
that the anticipated cultural and
economic benefits from jointly running
the service can be achieved.

Jerilderie Library developed as a part
of the Berrigan Shire Library Service.
Better resource sharing between
neighbouring Shires achieved.

Develop the resource to effectively
identify
and
deliver
cultural
opportunities within the Shire.

Part-time Community Development
Officer employed.
Improved capacity to deliver strategies
identified in the Council‟s cultural
plan.

 Carried Forward
The
Council
has
distributed
information to local museums on
courses run by Museums NSW. The
Council is also working with South
West Arts to facilitate the local
delivery of training programs
 Completed
The Council and THAM have worked
with Tocumwal on the Murray to
relocate the museum to the Tocumwal
Visitor Information Centre, facilitating
greater awareness of the importance of
Tocumwal as the site of an historic
wartime aerodrome.
 Carried Forward
The Council has met with the Albury
Wodonga Volunteer Bureau to develop
strategies aimed at attracting and
training volunteers.
 Carried Forward
The Council is currently mapping its
cemeteries using a geographical
information system, which will allow
for the digitisation of cemetery records
and their online distribution.

 Carried Forward
Carried forward in the
Strategic Management Plan.

Library

 Completed
A Community Development Officer
has been employed on a part-time
basis.

Library Services

The 2007/08 year has been a busy and exciting one for the Berrigan Shire Library Service,
with the highlights being the construction of a new library in Berrigan and the continuing
development of our staff.
BERRIGAN LIBRARY
The New Berrigan Library was completed and opened to the public on Thursday 8 May 2008,
and officially launched by the Mayor on Tuesday 8 July 2008. Once the new library was
operational, the Council effectively doubled the opening hours, with the library now open all
day Tuesday and Thursday as well as Saturday morning.
The response from the community has been overwhelming; an additional 60 members joined
the service between the new library opening and 30 June, and more members are joining
every week. There are 566 members of the library service in Berrigan from a population of
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around 1,000 residents; an incredible feat. Visits to Berrigan Library have tripled since the
opening: Visitors for the preceding 10 months reached a total of 2,920, while for May and
June alone, an incredible 1,716 people used the library.
The wireless linked „hotspot‟ computers have proven to be extremely popular with the
community. As well as the library‟s own computers, clients are able to use their own laptops
from any area in the library by requesting a „hotspot‟ ticket. One client was able to utilise this
service from outside the library and with her camera attached showed her friend, based in
Canada, the main street of Berrigan and surrounds. The multi-purpose room has hosted
exhibitions, school visits and community groups.
LOBBYING AND ADVOCACY
On 29 November 2007, Berrigan Shire Council was part of a state-wide day of protest by
rural library staff; closing all library branches for one hour in protest at the drastic decline in
State Government funding for public library services in New South Wales. This decline,
striking at the heart of public library services in this state, comes at a time when the Council
has demonstrated its commitment to libraries; building three new branches in ten years and a
gradual increase of opening hours across all branches. The Friends of the Library collected
petitions from residents and library members to demonstrate their support for viable funding
arrangements for public libraries.
Tocumwal Friends of the Library continue to support Tocumwal Library with fund-raising
and homebound delivery to individuals and local institutions.
The Berrigan Shire Library Service is committed to the South-West Zone and to the local,
regional and state efforts to strengthen and develop library issues and services.
MEMBER SERVICES
Primary School holiday programs were well supported during 2007/08. The library service
offered Footy Fever with Andrew Richardson, scrapbooking with Linda Snowden, making
mobile „Winter Whirlies‟, and the „Summer Reading around Oz‟ program during the
Christmas break.
Knitting Club/Coffee Mornings have emerged from the ABC Knit-in Campaign and are
extremely popular in Berrigan. This is now making a humble beginning at the other branches.
„Storytime for Preschoolers‟ has been well supported in Berrigan since the new library
opened and is offered weekly. The monthly storytime at the other branches is not always
attracting an audience, but may benefit from a weekly program when introduced in the future.
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
While the library service has generally had a stable staffing structure, there have been some
changes over the past twelve months, including the departure of long-term staff member Anne
Fuller, a well known part of the Tocumwal and Barooga library community. The service has
taken this opportunity to restructure the staffing arrangements to improve flexibility and
encourage development and improvement at all branches.
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During the year staff members attended a training day at Wagga Wagga Library in May to
facilitate opportunities for all staff members in Southwest Zone to share programs and
network. Anne Fuller, Jenny Congdon and Kerry Hawker discussed the Council‟s Techno
Teens program while other members outlined programs such as Baby Bounce/Lap-Sit, Book
Clubs and Living Books to inspire new programs in other libraries.
In addition, the Library Manager and Cr. Liz McLaurin attended the NSW Public Libraries
Conference in Merimbula in July 2007.
Children’s Services

Throughout the year the Council has undertaken a number of activities aimed at developing
and promoting services and programs that provide for the needs of children. These include the
following:
EARLY INTERVENTION SERVICES
The Council provides an early intervention service to the residents of Berrigan Shire. This
program is aimed at children from 0-5 years of age who have a developmental delay/disability
which may or may not be the result of a disability or diagnosed condition.
The Early Intervention Centre is located in Finley and provides a range of centre, home-based
and integration programs to children throughout Berrigan and Jerilderie Shires. The service
operates 4 days a week with enrolments remaining stable. In 2007/08, despite 10 clients
exiting the service over the 12 month period, the number of clients accessing the service
increased from 19 in 2006/07 to 20.
The Early Intervention Service is funded through the NSW Department of Ageing, Disability
and Home Care.
LIBRARY SERVICES
The Berrigan Shire Library Service provides a range of programs that provide for the needs of
children. These include school visits, story-time, the Techno Teens program and school
holiday activities.
ARTS AND CULTURAL ACTIVITIES
Berrigan Shire Council funds South West Arts to provide cultural activities, including drama
workshops, to children within the Shire.
During 2007/08 the Council organised a series of cultural activities for youth in the Shire.
These included music and drama workshops and performances for children ranging from
toddlers to teenagers.
The Council also provided financial support to the Youth Art Exhibition at the Southern
Riverina Gallery.
COUNCIL FACILITIES
The Council maintains a range of facilities used by children, local schools, and community
groups providing programs aimed at children. These include:
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Libraries at Barooga, Berrigan, Finley and Tocumwal
Public halls at Berrigan, Finley and Tocumwal
Public swimming pools at Berrigan, Finley and Tocumwal
Recreation Reserves at Barooga, Berrigan, Finley and Tocumwal, and the Showgrounds
Facility at Finley
Skate Parks at Berrigan, Finley and Tocumwal
Thirteen playgrounds including
o Barooga Botanical Gardens
o Barooga Library
o Barooga Foreshore Park (Lawson Drive)
o Barooga Recreation Reserve
o Apex Park, Berrigan
o Hayes Park, Berrigan
o Mary Lawson Wayside Rest, Finley
o Memorial Park, Finley
o Rotary Park, Finley
o Apex Park, Tocumwal,
o Tocumwal Library
o Tocumwal Foreshore (x2)
In addition the Council provides learn to swim programs through its public swimming pools.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES – CHILDREN’S SERVICES
Objective

Performance Indicator

Enhance youth retention through the
expansion of local educational
opportunities.

Funding opportunities that promote
education, training and/or employment
explored.
Grant funding obtained.

The Council can play a role in
enhancing local youth retention
through offering training/employment
opportunities.

Traineeships and apprenticeships
offered by the Council.
Employment opportunities for young
people
within
the
community
increased alleviating skill shortages.

Provide a
recreational
people.

range of alternative
activities for young

Support provided to the Southern
Riverina Gallery for their Youth Art
Exhibition.
Increased participation in art by young
people.

Reduce the prevalence of youth suicide
which tends to be higher in rural areas.

Support provided to the Berrigan Shire
Suicide Prevention Group.
Continued successful running of the
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Outcome/Status
 Carried Forward
Not yet commenced. The Council does
however support the programs
undertaken by Finley High School and
the Riverina Institute of TAFE which
provide opportunities for local young
people to stay in the area.
 Completed
A new Office Administration Trainee
was appointed at the beginning 2008
and Council‟s automotive trainee
successfully completed his studies
during the reporting period. This
continues the Council‟s commitment to
offering traineeships. The Council also
offers two university scholarships
aimed at encouraging local young
people to stay and work in the area,
and provides work experience to
several university students.
 Completed
The Council has provided funding for
a number of years to the Southern
Riverina Gallery for their Youth Art
Exhibition. The 2008-11 Cultural Plan
also identifies other possible initiatives
for encouraging participation in art by
young people.
 Completed
Council provided financial support to
the Berrigan Shire Suicide Prevention
Group in 2007/08 to assist them in

group.

carrying out their activities.

range of alternative
activities for young

Support provided for the Techno
Teens Program which provides a
worthwhile educational activity for
teenagers.

 Completed
Techno Teens is an ongoing program
provided by the Council through its
Library Service.

Help talented young aboriginal
sportspeople to achieve their maximum
sporting potential.

Information disseminated to aboriginal
sportspeople regarding the availability
of grants through the NSW
Department of Sport and Recreation
and the existence of the Sports
Development Officer.

Ensure that siblings of disabled
children don‟t suffer from a lack of
attention due to the demands on parents
in meeting the needs of the disabled
child.

Special Christmas Party organised at a
time that allows full participation of
families, especially fathers and other
members of the disabled child‟s
family.

Provide a
recreational
people.

Siblings Day Out organised and held.

Determine the need for childcare
within the Shire in terms of permanent
long day care and other levels of casual
care.

Deniliquin and District Family Day
Care provided with support to assess
current and ongoing child care needs
within the Shire.
Local families provided with better
access to affordable child care.

 Completed
The Council‟s CDO has developed a
relationship with the indigenous group
at Finley High School.
Council has provided financial
assistance to indigenous athletes
attending state and national sporting
carnivals.
 Completed
A Christmas Party was held for the
families of children accessing the
Berrigan Shire Early Intervention
Service.
 Completed
A series of small functions for the
families of disabled children were
held.
 Carried Forward
Contact has been made with the
Deniliquin and District Family Day
Care and other relevant groups to
assess current and ongoing childcare
needs within the community. With the
employment of the CDO, additional
activity will be undertaken as part of
the 2008-11 Social Plan.

Aged Services

Berrigan Shire Council coordinates a Home and Community Care (HACC) Service which is
designed to assist the frail aged and disabled, and their carers, to remain in the comfort of
their homes and retain their independence for as long as possible. The service is funded by the
NSW Department of Ageing and Disability and Home Care (DADHC) and provides services
to clients in Finley, Berrigan, Barooga and Tocumwal, as well as Jerilderie Shire.
The HACC service is based in Finley at the Community Health Centre adjacent to Finley
Hospital, and is co-located with other community health services.
Once again 2007/08 was a busy year for the HACC service, with the delivery of a number of
services including the following:
Meals on Wheels – a prepared meal service delivered to client‟s homes.
Home Maintenance – a handyman service for minor repairs and garden maintenance.
Home Modification – a handyman service that provides certain home modifications.
Community Transport – provides assistance with individual transport for specialist and
medical appointments.
Social Support – offers a range of practical support services such as visiting and assistance
with shopping.
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Overall servicing levels during the past 12 months over the range of assistance areas were as
follows:
Servicing Area

Services Provided

Meals on Wheels

2,995 meals delivered

Home Maintenance

23 clients
34 jobs completed

Home Modifications

50 clients
57 jobs completed

Community Transport

2,045 passenger trips
Approximately 250 individuals provided with transport
Approximately 118,800km travelled

A key challenge for the service over the past 12 months was maintaining numbers in the
meals on wheels and home maintenance and modification areas. With rising costs combined
with a greater number of clients opting for aged care packages and accommodated living,
these services have struggled to maintain numbers.
In February 2008 the HACC service completed the Integrated Monitoring Framework which
resulted in an Action Plan being developed to ensure services are conducted in accordance
with the funding agreement. A positive outcome from the review resulted, and DADHC has
granted the service a further 3 year funding agreement.
Additional recurrent funding has been approved by DADHC for Home Modification Services,
and non-recurrent funding was approved for general service improvements and the purchase
of GPS systems for community transport vehicles. DADHC has also reshaped the funding for
the Multi Service Outlet, creating a new service description schedule. This new model will
restrict the flexibility of the service due to budgeting restraints.
In addition, funding for Non Emergency Health Related Transport has been approved by
Greater Southern Area Health Service for a 12 month period. This funding is specifically for
use by people who do not fit the HACC criteria.
Many areas of the service are dependent on volunteers and staff. The service ensures that
volunteers have adequate knowledge of workplace health and safety issues through face-toface training and regular correspondence. We are happy to report that our volunteer base is at
an all time high and that the volunteers are extremely enthusiastic. The Council would like to
acknowledge the important role that these people play in providing support to the
community‟s aged and disabled people.
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Tourism
The Council continues to fund Tocumwal on the Murray Regional Tourism Group and the
Cobram Barooga Accommodation Group to carry out tourism activities within Berrigan Shire.
In 2007/08 the Council provided $88,000 to Tocumwal on the Murray and $38,000 to the
Cobram Barooga Accommodation Group. Both groups are run by and for the industry.
Tourism activities are subject to ongoing assessment, and the groups are required to provide
regular formal reports to the Council.
TOCUMWAL ON THE MURRAY
Tocumwal on the Murray provides tourism promotional activities for the area covered by
Tocumwal, Finley, Berrigan and Jerilderie (funded by Jerilderie Shire Council), and operates
the Visitor Information Centre in Tocumwal. The Regional Tourism Board‟s activities focus
on the following key areas:
Information and Technology Centre;
Website;
TV, radio and print campaign;
Events;
Tours; and
Visitor Information Centre.
Tocumwal on the Murray have developed a new, streamlined constitution and operating
structure. It has also taken steps to broaden its revenue base by expanding the range of
services offered, including the provision of an accommodation booking service and canoe and
kayak hire. The Board has successfully incorporated the Tocumwal Historic Air Museum
Display at the Visitor Information Centre.
The Board is currently investigating its options regarding alternate sites for the Visitor
Information Centre at a location closer to the Newell Highway.
BAROOGA ACCOMMODATION GROUP
The Cobram-Barooga Accommodation Group provides a range of promotional activities and
events to support the local tourism industry. Support is provided through the organisation of
events in their own right and by supporting groups by way of “seed funding”. The group
furnishes the Council with an annual budget outlining promotions and events to be carried out
during the financial year. Progress against the budget is reported to the Council on a regular
basis.
The group also runs a television campaign and a promotional website.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES – TOURISM
Objective

Performance Indicator

Outcome/Status

Investigate
the
feasibility
of
establishing a walking/cycling trail
within the existing Finley-Tocumwal
railway corridor in order to expand
recreational and tourist activities.

Investigation completed and reported
to the Council.

 Carried forward
Has been deferred until the outcome of
the inland rail proposal is known and
the replacement Regional Partnerships
Funding Program is announced.
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Bush Fire Control
Berrigan Shire Council is covered by the Corowa/Berrigan Zone of the NSW Rural Fire
Service by a Zone Rural Fire Service Agreement.
A Bushfire Management Plan adopted under Section 52 of the Rural Fires Act 1997applies to
the Zone and:
Identifies the level of bush fire risk across the Bush Fire Management Committee‟s area;
Identifies strategies which will be implemented to manage the bush fire risks identified;
and
Identifies the land managers responsible for implementing the plan.
The Plan identifies a number of strategies which are directed at addressing the risk to the
community and environmental assets. This is generally achieved through addressing those
factors which comprise the risk – these being the bush fire hazard (principally fuel), sources
and pattern of ignitions, and the vulnerability of the assets at risk.
MANAGEMENT
The Senior Management Team for the Zone comprises a Group Officer and Deputy from each
of the three groups within the Zone and 2 volunteers from the Berrigan District. The Senior
Management Team meets quarterly to discuss current and emerging issues.
During 2007/08 a new Category 7 tanker was received for Mt Gwynne Brigade.
Extensions to the Fire Management Centre at Corowa along with extensions to the Corowa
HQ Brigade Station were officially opened on 26 May 2008.
OPERATIONS
Locally the fire season was quiet with the prolonged drought conditions resulting in less
incidents being attended by Brigades. The Corowa/Berrigan Zone Brigades attended a total of
120 reported incidents across the Zone, down from 124 incidents the previous year. The
Berrigan Rural Fire District Brigades responded to 53 incidents, down from 68 the previous
year.
In 2007/08 out of area assistance was provided by the Corowa/Berrigan Zone to Kangaroo
Island in South Australia.
COMMUNITY SAFETY
The drought conditions have seen a major drop in the number of permits to burn being issued
during 2007/08. A total of 11 permits were issued throughout the Zone with 4 issued in the
Berrigan District. This compares to 12 permits across the Zone in 2006/07.
The Bushfire Danger Period has now been permanently set to commence at 1 November each
year unless the senior volunteers (Group Officers) consider the conditions appropriate to
commence the season earlier.
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Brigades and staff were involved in community education activities across the Zone including
School visits (local High, Primary and Pre-Schools), local shows (Corowa, Berrigan and
Finley), and talks to community groups.
LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT
Training courses provided during the year included:
Senior First Aid
Bush Fire Fighter
Advanced Fire Fighter
Crew Leader Grassland
Group Officer
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Technical Services
Council‟s Technical Services team experienced some changes in personnel throughout the
year but have still managed to continue with a very extensive capital works program. Major
projects have been completed for drainage and water re-use, water storages and roadworks.
The severe drought conditions have again impacted on the Council‟s ability to supply water
within the towns as well as making road, parks and gardens maintenance very difficult.
Planning and building staff have again had a quiet year in relation to development. However,
there has been increased commitment to strategic planning associated with the proposed new
Local Environmental Plan.

Roads
Road maintenance and repairs are undertaken in accordance with the Council‟s Strategic
Business Plan – Road Assets, which identifies and prioritises the work to be undertaken. In
2007/08 the following projects were pursued:
URBAN STREETS
The following urban streets were stabilised and sealed:
Brunker Street, Berrigan – between Denison Street and Nangunia Street
Brunker Street, Berrigan – between Robertson Street and Momalong Street
In addition to the above, numerous urban streets, totalling 12.1km, were resealed to varying
widths.
REGIONAL ROADS
Main Road 550 – Mulwala-Tocumwal Road. A length of 3km, starting approximately
900m west of Barinya Estate Road was completely rebuilt, stabilised and sealed.
Main Road 550 – Tocumwal Golf Club Entrance. Approximately 500m of the road was
rebuilt for the specific purpose of raising the road height to the flood levy height.
In addition, 10.7km of roads were resealed (covering works on Main Roads 550, 363 and
356).
COLLECTOR ROADS (LOCAL ROADS)
Yarrawonga Road. 1.2km of roadworks from Main Road 550 to the Mulwala Canal were
undertaken with 500m stabilised. The roadworks were only partially completed due to the
gravel crusher being unavailable. The remainder of the works have been carried forward
to the 2008/09 works program.
Pyles Road. A length of 1.1km has been fully reconstructed, widened and stabilised
starting 7.3km from MR564 – Berrigan-Jerilderie Road.
RURAL ROADS
In addition to the work on Pyles Road, rural local roads improvement works included 93.1km
of bitumen resealing works.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES – ROADS
Objective

Performance Indicator

Outcome/Status

Review and update Council‟s Strategic
Business Plan – Road Assets and
extend its horizon to year 2030.

New Strategic Business Plan – Road
Assets adopted.

 Carried forward
The contractor engaged to carry out the
work has not delivered on time lines
and therefore this work has been
carried forward to 2008/09.

Sewer Services
Capital works undertaken during the 2007/08 financial year as part of the Council‟s Sewer
Service Business were focused on improving infrastructure and safety at sewerage treatment
plants within the Shire.
The screen extractor installed at the head of the works in the Finley Sewerage Treatment Plant
has proved to be very efficient in terms of reducing manual handling for screen cleaning and
improved treatment efficiency. As a result, the Council is planning to install another two
screen extractors at the Tocumwal and Berrigan Sewerage Treatment Plants in 2008/09 at an
estimated cost of $130,000.
The year also saw the commissioning of the reuse scheme which will provide Tocumwal Golf
Club with a combination of stormwater and treated effluent. The total cost of this project was
approximately $1 million.
As part of the Council‟s Asset Management Policy and based on regular inspections, the
Council identified that the digester units at the Berrigan and Finley waste water treatment
plants could be classified as hazardous with the lids severely eroded and needing replacement.
The total cost for the remediation works is estimated to be $60,000 and will be carried out
during the next financial year.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES – SEWERAGE SERVICES
Objective

Performance Indicator

Outcome/Status

Review the Council‟s existing
Sewerage Strategic Plan to prioritise
ongoing investment and maintenance
activities.

Existing Sewerage Strategic Plan
reviewed.
Future work identified, costed and
prioritised.

 Carried Forward
Due to a lack of resources the project
time frame has been extended until
December 2008.

Water Services
After undertaking several large projects in 2006/07 to increase water storage capacity, the
ongoing drought in 2007/08 once again led the Council to focus on improving the efficiency
of its town water supply system.
Monitoring of water consumption across the Council‟s towns has been carried out as part of
its permanent water restriction policy. This monitoring saw identification of major leaks in the
potable water systems in Tocumwal, Berrigan and Finley. As a result, the Council applied for
funding under the State Government Water Loss Management Program to carry out a leak
detection project, subsequent repairs and to install flow meters to enable accurate
consumption monitoring.
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To further improve the network‟s efficiency, the Council replaced sections of the reticulation
systems across the four towns and installed additional valves on the water lines to minimise
interruptions to the water supply when carrying out repairs.
The Council also upgraded its telemetry system to ensure effective monitoring of the water
treatment plants and water and wastewater pump stations. This will ensure that the Council
continues to provide excellent service to water users by identifying and attending to failures
within the shortest possible timeframe and prior to environmental problems occurring. This
project has been undertaken at a cost of around $70,000.
Due to limited water availability in the Council‟s winter storages at Finley and the unsecure
water supply in the MIL channel, the Council is looking to increase the capacity of the Finley
town water reservoir. It is hoped that half of the costs for this project will be subsidised by the
NSW Government.
A major ongoing project is the fluoridation of the filtered water supplies in Barooga and
Tocumwal. This project is progressing slowly with the subsidy for the fluoridation of the
plants approved by the Fluoridation of Public Water Supplies Advisory Committee. This
subsidy should cover the full cost of equipment installation process at an estimated cost of
$120,000. The design of the fluoridation system and tender documents are being prepared and
will be sent to the Department of Oral Health for final approval before the installation of the
equipment can be completed.
Finally, the Council has decided to carry out a water meter replacement project for all filtered
and raw water meters on the town supply network. The new meters will incorporate an
electronic device to enable remote reading of the meters. The new meter reading system is
reliable and is the most advanced technology used at this stage, and will significantly improve
the efficiency of the distribution system.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES – WATER SERVICES
Objective

Performance Indicator

Outcome/Status

Review existing Section 64 Develop
Contribution Plans to ensure that
developers adequately compensate the
Council and community for the
provision of water services.

Developer
contributions
reviewed and updated.

Review the Council‟s existing Water
Strategic Plan to prioritise ongoing
investment and maintenance activities.

Existing
Water
Strategic
Plan
reviewed.
Future work identified, costed and
prioritised.

plans

 Carried Forward
The review is not due to be undertaken
until 2009.

 Carried Forward
Due to a lack of resources the project
time frame has been extended until
December 2008.

Stormwater & Drainage
The 2007/08 financial year has seen the continued implementation of the Council‟s
Stormwater Management Plan with major works being completed at Tocumwal for the
collection and reuse of stormwater from the northern part of the town for irrigation at the
Tocumwal Golf Course. This project was combined with a sewerage reuse project at a
combined total cost of approximately $1 million.
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Another major project commenced during the year was the construction of a major pump
station in Anzac Avenue Tocumwal, to transfer stormwater over the levee bank during times
of high river flow. This project was at a cost of approximately $100,000.
In addition to the above major works drainage improvements also took place in:
Tocumwal Street, Finley – these improvements were associated with kerb and gutter
works undertaken between Warmatta and Wollamai Streets.
Budd Street, Berrigan – associated with kerb and gutter works for the full length of the
street.
Vermont Street, Barooga – Banker Street to the Botanical Gardens
Hughes Street, Barooga – Amaroo Street towards Wiruna Street. These improvements
were associated with kerb and gutter works and included a drainage pumping station to
direct water to the Buchanans Road Drainage System.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES – STORMWATER
Objective

Performance Indicator

Outcome/Status

Inspect and maintain the stormwater
drainage network in accordance with
the parameters set out in the Council‟s
Stormwater Management Plan and
Stormwater Strategic Business Plan in
order to maximise public safety and
protect the Council‟s assets.

Stormwater
drainage
network
inspected
and
maintained
in
accordance with the parameters set out
in
the
Council‟s
Stormwater
Management Plan and Stormwater
Strategic Business Plan.

 Ongoing
Dry conditions have largely negated
the need for maintenance and
inspections.
Required
maintenance
being
completed.

Review the existing Stormwater
Strategic Plan to prioritise ongoing
investment and maintenance activities.

Existing Stormwater Management Plan
reviewed.
Future work identified, costed and
prioritised.

 Completed
Review completed with the draft plan
adopted by Council in May 2008.

Stormwater Management Service Charge

Under clause 217(1) (e) of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005, the Council is
required as part of its Annual Report to provide a comparison of the actual stormwater
management services made available by the Council during the year with the projected
stormwater management services that were proposed to be made available, together with a
statement of the reasons for any difference between them.
Commencing in 2006/07 the Council implemented a Stormwater Management Service Charge
of $25 per residential property to assist in financing the implementation of works identified as
necessary for the management of stormwater as set out in the Council‟s Stormwater
Management Plan (Nov 2004).
The Council‟s Management Plan established that proceeds raised through the charge would be
used to fund payment of the internal loan from the Council‟s sewerage fund to carry out
significant capital works specified in the Stormwater Management Plan. It was anticipated
that these funds will be complemented by developer charges.
During 2007/08 the following drainage works were carried out under the Council‟s
Stormwater Management Plan:
Replacement of kerb and gutter and provision of underground drainage to Budd St,
Berrigan.
Provision of kerb and gutter and underground drainage to Hughes St, Barooga.
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Provision of kerb and gutter and underground drainage to Tocumwal St, Finley.
Provision of kerb and gutter and underground drainage to Wollamai St, Finley
Provision of kerb and gutter and underground drainage to Finley St, Tocumwal
Other than bringing forward the above mentioned works for Finley, Wollamai and Williams
Streets, and deferring works on Nangunia and Howard Streets, Barooga, all of the
programmed works have been completed. There was no substantial variation between actual
and proposed stormwater management services provided as part of the stormwater
management service charge.

Waste Management
Berrigan Shire Council operates landfill sites in Tocumwal and Berrigan and a Recycling
Centre in Finley. It also provides a weekly collection of garbage using 120 litre bins and a
fortnightly collection of recyclables using 240 litre bins through a joint contract with Moira
Shire Council.
The garbage and recyclable collection contractors are Kendall and Foott Pty Ltd, and
Cleanaway Pty Ltd respectively. These contracts have been extended until the end of October
2008 after expiring in July and May 2008. The Council is participating in a joint tender with
Moira Shire Council for new contractors. Tenders have been called and the new contracts are
expected to commence towards the end of 2008.
Continuing a focus on recycling, the Council continues to operate the DrumMUSTER
program for the collection of clean empty farm chemical containers. The Council has also
decided to waive the tip fees for all recyclable materials as part of a waste minimisation
strategy implemented by the Council and to encourage ratepayers to get rid of any recyclables
they may have stockpiled.
Park‟s Victoria‟s decision to implement a “Carry In – Carry Out” rubbish policy along the
Victorian side of the border continues to pose a significant challenge for waste management
in Berrigan Shire. The Department‟s policy led to the complete removal of bulk rubbish bins
for campers on the southern side of the River, resulting in a significant increase in the
quantity of rubbish being brought to, and disposed of in Berrigan Shire during peak tourism
times. The Council has made provision for facilities to be made available to campers at
Tocumwal tip, and is also providing, at significant cost to the Council, bulk rubbish bins in
Tocumwal. This is expected to be an ongoing problem.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES – WASTE DISPOSAL
Objective

Performance Indicator

Outcome/Status

Prepare a strategic plan for the
management of waste within the Shire
that addresses the currently inadequate
facilities for the disposal of unsafe
material in Barooga, Tocumwal and
Finley.

Waste Management Strategic Plan
prepared.

 Not yet commenced
Council has determined this a low
priority project.
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Kerb & Gutter
Kerb and Gutter projects are identified in the Council‟s Stormwater Strategic Business Plan
and the Capital Works program and are aimed at improving town amenity, drainage and the
protection of road assets.
New Kerb and Gutter projects completed in 2007/08 as half cost schemes with adjoining
property owners include:
Hughes Street, Barooga – between Amaroo Street and Buchanans Road
New and replacement Kerb and Gutter projects at full cost to the Council completed in
2007/08 include:
Budd Street, Berrigan – full length, both sides.
Tocumwal Street, Finley – between Warmatta Street and Wollamai Street
In addition to the above, all new subdivisions are required to construct kerb and gutter as part
of the approvals process. This has seen major new works being undertaken in Tocumwal and
Barooga as a result of new private subdivisions.

Footpaths
In 2006 the Council adopted a Pedestrian Access and Mobility Plan (PAMP) with the
following objectives:
Undertake a strategic review of footpath networks within the township area;
Review the condition of key pedestrian infrastructure, particularly kerb ramps, crossings
and key paths;
Identify improvements required to bring pedestrian facilities to current Roads and Traffic
Authority Standards;
Develop a Pedestrian Access and Mobility Plan which promotes a safe network of
pedestrian routes linking the major public facilities and attractions;
Provide pedestrian facilities which cater for the needs of all pedestrians including people
with disabilities, children, seniors, commuters, club patrons and recreational walkers;
Ensure that pedestrian facilities are provided in a consistent manner throughout the Shire
based on New South Wales standards of best practice;
Prioritise improvement works be means of a costed and staged works schedule.
A total of 122 projects across the four towns were identified in the plan with implementation
commencing in 2007/08. Works undertaken over the last 12 months include:
Construction of pedestrian refuge blisters at the intersection of Warmatta Street and
Denison Streets, Finley.
Construction of a pedestrian refuge, kerb ramp and extension of footpath in Jerilderie
Street, Tocumwal.
Construction of kerb ramps and modification of existing splitter island for provision of
pedestrian refuge in Golf Course Road at the intersection of Vermont Street, Barooga.
Other works completed included a half cost scheme to construct footpaths in Deniliquin Road,
Tocumwal between Murray Street and Cowley Street.
As part of the Council‟s PAMP strategy the construction of a shared cycleway was completed
in Barooga to provide an underpass below the Stan Collie Causeway Bridge. The shared path
now links up with the existing shared path on Golf Course Road, and the existing shared path
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along the Stan Collie Causeway between Cobram and Barooga without the need for cyclists
and pedestrians to cross the road amongst traffic.

Street Lighting
The installation of street lighting is carried out in accordance with priorities established
through a survey of the Council‟s existing street lighting infrastructure. In order to maximise
the available budget, new street lights are added to the network on a town per year basis. In
2007/08 the street lighting budget of $20,000 was allocated to works in Berrigan with 16 new
lights installed.

Parks & Gardens
Berrigan Shire Council‟s routine maintenance on all parks and streets within the towns is a
continuing program. Once again as a result of the drought, few new projects were commenced
in 2007/08.
The Council‟s major contribution to new works remains the development and beautification
of Railway Park in Finley. In association with the Finley Railway Committee, the council has
made an ongoing commitment to minor tree planting and replacement, and the installation of
a dripper system.
Another major project was tree management under power lines within the Shire‟s towns. This
project was undertaken by Country Energy contractors.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES – PARKS AND GARDENS
Objective

Performance Indicator

Outcome/Status

Employ an additional gardener on
either a part-time or full-time basis in
order to improve the standard of
existing areas and manage an
expanded area of parks and gardens.

Additional gardener employed.
Parks and Gardens better managed.

 Complete
Part-time gardener employed.

Asset Management
The revaluation of Council‟s assets continued, with all water and sewer assets being revalued
for total replacement cost in 2007/08. This follows from the revaluation of road and bridge
assets the previous year.
With the Council‟s electronic asset management system now fully implemented for roads,
bridges, water and sewer assets, the Council is now able to quickly assess and report on all
asset depreciation values and replacement costs on a monthly, quarterly or annual basis for
financial reporting. This includes reporting on any new additional assets or disposal of assets
that have been decommissioned.
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Development and Building Control
Development activity throughout the Shire slowed during 2007/08 consistent with trends
elsewhere. This reduction in building activity may be due to a number of factors including
higher interest rates, rising fuel costs, lower share market returns, the effect of drought
conditions and ongoing negative publicity in the national press about the condition of the
Murray River and water. Typically it is a natural cycle and indicative of the state and national
economy.
Subdivision consents consisted mostly of villa unit construction and boundary adjustments
and did not result in additional vacant land for future development.
The following table and graphs show the spread and type of development activity across the
Shire. The development consent statistics however, are not always a true reflection of
building activity, as some developments may have been approved in previous years and are
only now being constructed. Similarly, the consents granted in 2007/08 may be staged over a
number of years, or may never commence at all.
NUMBER OF APPLICATIONS DETERMINED BY LOCATION
Type of Development

2006/07

2007/08
Barooga

Berrigan

Finley

Tocumwal

Total

New Dwellings

74

15

9

7

33

64

Dwelling Additions incl.
sheds, garages, private
pools, gazebos & carports.

110

17

16

14

30

77

Industrial Development

0

1

0

3

0

4

Commercial Development

35

12

7

11

13

43

Rural

8

4

0

3

5

12

Miscellaneous

18

2

2

1

4

9

Subdivisions

23

5

3

2

13

23

(no. of lots)

(117 lots)

(20 lots)

(7 lots)

(6 lots)

(47 lots)

(80 lots)

TOTAL

268

56

37

41

98

232

VALUE OF DEVELOPMENT
Type of Development

2006/07

New Dwellings
Dwelling Additions incl. sheds, garages, private pools, gazebos & carports.
Industrial Development
Commercial Development
Rural
Miscellaneous
Subdivisions
TOTAL

2007/08

$15,827,028

$12,588,879

$1,806,525

$1,225,962

$0

$282,630

$11,807,747

$5,559,070

$24,000

$51,800

$1,993,700

$120,000

$400,000

$11,000

$31,859,000

$19,839,341
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DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITY – TOTAL VALUE
450

$40,000,000
$36,525,584
$33,778,016

400

$35,000,000

$31,859,000
350

$30,000,000

300
$25,000,000

$12,813,621
$18,644,325

250

$19,839,341
$20,000,000

$11,416,250

200

386
$13,256,675

346

$15,000,000

150
268
238
100

240

232

$10,000,000

194
157
$5,000,000

50
0

$0
2000/01

2001/02

2002/03

2003/04

2004/05

2005/06

T otal Determinations

Value

2006/07

2007/08
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New Dwellings
28%

Dwelling Additions
incl. sheds, garages,
private pools,
gazebos & carports.
33%
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Animal Control
The continuation of the drought conditions, reduced livestock numbers, and good prices have
resulted in another year of few problems requiring the Ranger to respond to wandering
animals on roads. Livestock owners are more aware of the implications and liabilities arising
from inadequate fencing and supervision, and producers have a better understanding of the
Council‟s environmental aims to revegetate and conserve lineal roadside reserves.
A small number of enquiries were received seeking permission to graze shire roadsides and
no penalty infringement notices were issued for animals left unattended on public roads.
The care and responsible ownership of dogs continues to be an area of concern in all
townships. The Environmental Liaison & Enforcement Officer is endeavouring to increase
public awareness of responsible pet ownership.
Clause 217(1)(f) of the NSW Local Government (General) Regulation 2005, requires the
Council to provide a statement in the Annual Report on activities during the year in relation to
the enforcement and compliance with the Companion Animals Act 1998 and Regulations.
The Council is required to complete and submit to the Department of Local Government a
survey of seizures of cats and dogs annually before 30 September. This pound collection data
was submitted as required.
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The following statistics relate to companion animal control for 2007/08:
Number
Total Dogs Seized

87

Dogs Returned to Owner

11

Dogs Impounded

76

Dogs Released

24

Dogs Euthanized

52

Cats Impounded

6

Cats Euthanized

6

Penalty Infringement Notices Issued – Dogs

7

Penalty Infringement Notices Issued – Livestock

0

Value of Penalty Notices

$1,485

It was not necessary to report any dog attacks to the Department or to declare any dogs as
„dangerous‟ during the year.
Funding statistics in relation to animal management activities are set out in the table below:
Expenses 2007/08

Value

Companion Animal and Livestock Impounding – Staff Salaries

$53,540

Companion Animal and Livestock Impounding – Vehicle Operating costs

$10,589

Companion Animal and Livestock Impounding – Telephone Expenses

$2,706

Dog Food Expenses

$1,209

Daily Dog and Cat Pound Maintenance – Cleaning etc.

$9,566

Capital Works Improvements to Pound Facility

$3,391

TOTAL EXPENSES

$81,001

Revenue 2007/08

Value

Companion Animal Registration Fee Reimbursement

$3,120

Penalty Notices – Fines
TOTAL REVENUE

$916
$4,036

The tables above clearly show that compliance and enforcement of the Companion Animals
legislation is a significant burden upon Council resources. Section 85(1a) of the Act requires a
Council to use any money paid from the fund to be applied only for purposes that relate to the
management and control of companion animals in its area. Obviously, all money reimbursed
to the Council from payment of registration fees into the Companion Animals Fund is quickly
used.
Community education programs and strategies used to promote responsible pet ownership are
limited to letterbox drop pamphlets and notices in the Council Bulletin page of local
newspapers when considered necessary. The Council does not have any strategies in place to
promote and assist with desexing of dogs and cats.
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Companion animals are kept in the pound for the prescribed periods and where young, well
bred animals are not claimed, attempts are made to seek alternatives to euthanasia.
Occasionally an RSPCA or Council shelter in a larger regional area such as Wodonga,
Shepparton, Echuca or Albury will agree to accept an unclaimed animal from the Council.
Developed off leash exercise areas are not provided in any of the Shire‟s towns. An off leash
area was originally declared available at the old recreation reserve in Berrigan but has not
been widely used. Investigation of alternative locations in each town has not been considered
a high priority.
Upon introduction of the Companion Animals Act 1989, the Council adopted a Local Animal
Management Plan (LAMP) and has since set about implementing the identified actions.
Unsuccessful attempts have been made to establish a community consultation group to advise
the Council on companion animal issues. A review of the LAMP is due to be undertaken.

State of the Environment Report
Preparation of a Supplementary State of the Environment Report for 2007/08 as prescribed in
Section 428 of the Local Government Act 1993, has been undertaken by Habitat Planning
consultants from Albury on behalf of the Councils in the Murray ROC region.
The Councils of the Central Murray Region have used his approach over the last nine years in
an attempt to produce a more useful document with clear pressure – state – response
models. That is, to identify the pressure that human activities have placed on their immediate
environment and natural surroundings; to identify the current and projected state of the
environment; and to identify and describe the response of councils, government agencies,
industry and communities to the pressure on the environment.
A copy of the Supplementary State of the Environment Report is attached as Appendix 3

Planning Agreements
In accordance with Section 93G(5) of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979,
Berrigan Shire Council did not have any planning agreements in force during 2007/08.
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Council Facilities
Finley Livestock Exchange
The Finley Livestock Exchange is a modern ring selling saleyard that provides local
producers the opportunity to sell cattle and sheep in an open market. In 2007/08 the saleyards
were owned and operated by the Council with advice being provided by the Finley Saleyards
Committee representing the interests of buyers, agents, transport operators, and other users of
the facility.
Over the financial year, the marked deterioration in the revenue of the saleyards continued;
the continuing dry conditions have not helped in this regard. As a result of low throughput,
the cattle sale frequency remained on a fortnightly cycle.
Compounding these problems, additional statutory and regulatory requirements continued to
add to the cost of operating the yards. In an effort to meet some of these statutory
requirements, the Council purchased new saleyard operating software and sought quotes for
new NLIS scanning equipment. A significant investment was needed to ensure that the
saleyards meet the ever rising standards and maintained their permission to operate.
In an effort to secure the future of the saleyards, the Council resolved to seek expressions of
interest from interested parties to purchase, operate or manage the facility. One expression of
interest was received and the Council entered into negotiations with that party. These
discussions have led to a 12 month agreement with a goal of a longer term arrangement.

Tocumwal Aerodrome
The Tocumwal Aerodrome is a significant investment for the Council and community.
Comprising approximately 217.5 hectares, including 95,000m2 of runways and taxiways, the
Council resumed day-to-day management of the facility in 2006/07.
In the first full year of direct management, the Council has found that while costs to the
community have increased, greater investment in capital and maintenance terms has been
possible. Private investment at the aerodrome has also continued, seeing the construction of
three new hangars in 2007/08.
Major activities at the Aerodrome over the past 12 months have included runway and taxiway
resealing, taxiway construction and improved risk management programs to better manage
access to the aerodrome‟s airside area.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES - AERODROME
Objective

Performance Indicator

Outcome/Status

Seek assistance from the Federal
Government for the implementation of
projects outlined in the Tocumwal
Aerodrome Strategic Plan.

Assistance sought from the Federal
Government to implement projects
identified in the Tocumwal Aerodrome
Strategic Plan.

 Not yet commenced
Dependent on identifying appropriate
projects.

Pursue grant funding for projects at the
aerodrome.

Grant concept developed and pursued.

 Not yet commenced
Potentially eligible projects not yet
identified.

Page 68
Berrigan Shire Council Annual Report 2007/08

Aerodrome Manager appointed and
resources provided to operate the
Aerodrome.

 Completed
Aerodrome Manager appointed and
budget adopted. Reporting Officer
engaged.

Improve signage to Tocumwal
Aerodrome from the Newell Highway.

Signage strategy
implemented.

 Completed
RTA to provide sign at Newell
Highway Roundabout.

Commission a Business Plan in
relation
to
the
proposed
residential/aviation subdivision in the
south west corner of the aerodrome.

Business Plan commissioned.

 Not yet commenced
There is presently no demand for
residential land.

Commission a Business Plan in
relation to the proposed hangar
development at the aerodrome.

Business Plan commissioned.

 Completed
Hangar provided by private party.

Directly
manage
and
Tocumwal Aerodrome.

operate

developed

and

Swimming Pools
The Council operates outdoor public swimming pools in Berrigan, Finley and Tocumwal
during the summer months, usually between November and March. The pools are supervised
by temporary employees and are run on a daily basis by Section 355 Community Committees
of Management. The Council provides an annual operating budget and funding for repairs and
maintenance of the pools. The committee undertake additional fundraising for equipment and
improvements to the facilities.
Over recent years, significant funds have been expended on the repair, sealing and resurfacing
of both Berrigan and Finley swimming pools. Considerable effort has been directed to
identifying and rectifying leakage through pool joints, pipe penetrations and faults. This work
is ongoing but will result in the extended useable life of the pool facilities and provide for
continued water education activities and recreation use of the pools by the community.
The Council commissioned the Royal Life Saving Society of Australia to undertake audits of
its pools to identify hazards and prioritise future required works. From this audit, a range of
necessary improvements, including improved signage, equipment and training was identified
and a plan developed to address them. Implementation of the plan has continued in 2007/08.
Changes to the operation of the public pools are planned for the 2008/09 season with the
employment of a permanent Pool Supervisor, with the responsibility for the safety and
amenity of each pool. In addition, the Council‟s trained water and sewerage operators will be
responsible for operating the public swimming pools water treatment systems.
The Council also provides a financial contribution to the Barooga Sports Club who operates
an indoor heated swimming pool and gymnasium in Barooga that operates year round and
provides disabled access.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES – SWIMMING POOLS
Objective

Performance Indicator

Engage the Berrigan community about
the future of the Berrigan War
Memorial Pool which is experiencing
falling patronage and increasing
operational and capital costs.

Future of the pool determined.

Outcome/Status
Completed
The Council has decided to continue
supporting the Berrigan Pool in the
short to medium-term and it was
therefore unnecessary to meet with the
public.

Caravan Parks
Berrigan Shire Council controls caravan parks in Tocumwal and Berrigan. The Berrigan
Caravan Park is managed by the Berrigan Lions Club with financial assistance from the
Council to assist with the basic upkeep of the area. The Tocumwal Caravan Park has been
leased to a private operator and this situation is continuing to reap benefits for the community
and the Council.
The Tocumwal Caravan Park operates at no direct cost to the Council. In 2007/08 the Council
upgraded the amenities block.
The Council also operates a camping area at Town Beach in Tocumwal. This area works on a
permit system, with permits available through the Tocumwal Visitor Information Centre. This
system is working well and is helping the Council to meet its public liability responsibilities
for the management of this area.

Cemeteries
Berrigan Shire Council manages public cemeteries in Barooga, Berrigan, Finley and
Tocumwal. The cemeteries are maintained by local community groups who are paid a small
honorarium in return.
The Council has proposed a mapping program in 2008/09 to spatially locate all burials and to
publish information about burials on the Council website. Information on burials is available
at present by contacting the Council administration office.
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Organisational Development
In December 2004 the Department of Local Government undertook a Focussed Review of the
Council‟s operations as part of the Local Government Reform Program – Promoting Better
Practice Program. The objectives for the focussed review strategy were to:
Generate greater compliance to legislation across local government;
Provide an „early intervention‟ option for councils experiencing operating problems;
Promote good governance and the principles of ethical conduct; and
Enable the Department to use review information to provide feedback into its work
identifying necessary legislative and policy work for the local government sector.
Senior Investigations Officer John Canadi and Senior Finance Officer Scott Wallace made up
the team who conducted an on-site review of the Council in December 2004. This review
consisted of briefings with the Mayor and General Manager, interviews with other staff and
the review of a number of the council‟s policies and other documents. In a report provided to
the Council in March 2005 the review team divided their recommendations into three
sections:
Governance;
Asset and Financial Management; and
Community and Consultation.
The Promoting Better Practice Review of Council made 19 recommendations on
improvements to the Council‟s systems and practices. Active implementation of the actions
commenced in November 2005 and while most of the recommendations have been
implemented a small number have not been finalised. Recommendations not yet completed
include the preparation of a business continuity plan, the establishment of an internal audit
function, development of a long-term financial plan, and the review of procurement, disposal
and use of external contractor policies.
In March 2008, as part of the formal annual review of the program, the Council wrote to the
Department Government advising them that with the exception of one item (the preparation of
a business continuity plan), the final recommendations will not be completed until after the
Department of Local Government releases guidelines or finalises reviews relating to the
outstanding items (in the case of procurement, the Council has been awaiting the release of
the new guidelines since 2005). This will allow the Council to continue to pursue other higher
priority activities and minimise the duplication of resources on carrying out tasks that will
need to be repeated when the guidelines are finally released.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES – ORGANISATIONAL DEVELOPMENT
Objective

Performance Indicator

Outcome/Status

In the event of a disaster the Council is
able to continue its operations.

Develop a Business Continuity Plan
including a Records Management
Plan.

To minimise the risk of fraud.

Routine fraud assessments conducted.

 Carried Forward
Preparation of the plan will be
undertaken
as
part
of
the
implementation of the Council‟s Risk
Management Strategic Plan. Quotes
have been received to develop and test
the Plan. A budget allocation has been
made for 2008/09. Work is scheduled
to commence in November 2008.
 Carried Forward
The NSW Audit Office released Best
Practice Guidelines in July 2006.
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KPMG is providing training and
assistance.
Achieve savings and security as a
result of continuous improvement
activities
for
the
Council‟s
procurement activities.

Existing procurement policy reviewed
in a manner that protects the Council‟s
interests and achieves maximum
benefit for it in terms of cost and
efficiency.
New policy adopted.
Conduct routine risk assessments of
procurement and disposal procedures.

The Council from time to time makes
use of external resources when
fulfilling its responsibilities. Clarify
how external resources should be used
when providing major activities.

Develop and adopt a policy in relation
to the use of external contractors for
the provision of major services.

Develop an asset disposal policy that
covers the disposal of a small range of
assets that do not form a part of
adopted Council programs.

Policy developed and adopted.

 Complete
Council is awaiting direction from the
Department of Local Government
regarding
Policy
framework
requirements.
The Council has resolved not to
proceed with this item until
clarification has been received.
 Complete
Council is awaiting direction from the
Department of Local Government.
The Council has resolved to not
proceed with this item until
clarification has been received.
 Complete
This will be included as part of the
Council‟s procurement policy.
The Council has resolved to not
proceed with this item until after the
Department of Local Government
releases relevant guidelines.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES – GOVERNANCE
Objective

Performance Indicator

Outcome/Status

Develop a more proactive and
assertive approach to the Council‟s
relationship with the State in order to
improve benefits for the community in
general, and the Council specifically.

The needs and wants of the community
are better promoted.
Work undertaken with other strategic
partners to ensure that the State does
not threaten the viability or
sustainability of the Council.
Work undertaken with Regional
Organisations of Councils and other
community organisations in order to
lobby the NSW Government for a fair
and equitable allocation of resources
for the local and regional community.

 Completed
In the last 12 months the Council has
participated in the Rural and Regional
Task Force, met with Minister Nathan
Rees regarding water and sewer and
invited him to visit the region,
participated in the Water and Sewer
Enquiry, met with the Lands Minister
regarding valuations, and tried to meet
with
the
Minister
for
Local
Government.
The Council has also been involved in
MurrayROC meetings with the
Minister for Local Government and the
presentation to the State Plan meeting.

Pursue a range of activities in order to
address the difficulty that the Council
faces in attracting and retaining staff.

Improved attraction and retention of
staff.

 Completed
The Council has provided training to
relevant staff, pursued internal
promotions, offered scholarships and
traineeships, and provided flexible
work arrangements.

Develop a program of corporate
governance and specific training
opportunities for new and existing
Councillors in order to help them
understand and fulfil the significant
responsibilities they have and enhance
the community.

Program of corporate governance and
industry specific training opportunities
for new and existing councillors
developed.
Councillors better able to meet their
responsibilities
and
deliver
improvement opportunities for the
community.

 Not yet commenced
This activity has been carried forward
until after the Local Government
elections.
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Economic Development
The Strategic Economic Development plan (SEDP) largely defines the activities undertaken
by the Council‟s Economic Development Unit. The SEDP is reviewed on an annual basis and
covers the four key areas of:
Strategic Land Use;
Building Business;
Labour Attraction & Retention; and
Promoting Investment.
In addition to the prioritised activities various projects and activities are undertaken by the
Unit either under delegation from the Council or opportunistically to help achieve the
Council‟s strategic economic development goals. A summary of the key projects undertaken
in 2007/08 is as follows:
STRATEGIC LAND USE
Barooga and Tocumwal Rezonings – After more than three years, the rezoning of 3
parcels of land for residential use in Barooga and Tocumwal has been finalised. While the
process involved has sometimes been frustrating and taken longer than anticipated, the
successful rezoning will help to facilitate the ongoing development of the Shire‟s fastest
growing towns.
Local Environmental Plan – As part of the NSW Government‟s Planning Reform
Program all Council‟s in NSW are required to review their Local Environmental Plan in
line with the approved template within a maximum 5 year period. In 2006/07 Berrigan
Shire Council successfully applied for grant funding towards the strategic planning
process which will be carried out over the next several years The first stage of the funding
has been received from the Department of Planning and GHD Planning Consultants have
been engaged by the Council to implement the first stages of the project.

BUILDING BUSINESS
Berrigan Shire Newsletter – In 2007/08 the Council continued circulation of a regular
business newsletter which is aimed at improving communication with the local business
community. Distributed electronically to local business groups and made available
through the Council‟s website, the “What‟s On” newsletter provides local businesses with
information on upcoming seminars, resources, issues and topics relevant to business.
Business Promotion – The need for a Berrigan Shire Business Awards night was
identified some 10 years ago and has been held on an annual basis ever since. The
founding objectives were to showcase local businesses and people, to learn about locally
available products and services and use the Awards night to bring together the
community. Berrigan Shire Council again has successfully organised and held the awards
night, which has received significant support and positive feedback from the local
community.
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LABOUR ATTRACTION AND RETENTION
Local Employment Expo – The fifth annual Local Employment Expo was held at Finley
High School on the 12 June 2008. The Expo aims to promote the career options available
locally and link “local kids to local jobs”. This year saw one key change to the Expo.
Students chose what specific type of business or organisation they wished to visit and then
where possible, a suitable match was arranged. Universities, colleges, TAFE, and local
employment agencies were also on-hand at the school to assist students with information
about the various services and courses they offer. The keynote presenter, former Young
Australian Business Person of the Year Michael McQueen inspired many students with
both workshops and his main presentation on personal growth and achievement. The
Employment Expo is organised in partnership with Finley High School, the Riverina
Institute of TAFE, Youth Career Services and the local business community. Some
funding was obtained through the NSW Department of Education and Training.
Workplacement Student of the Year Award – Established in 2005, the Workplacement
Student of the Year Award recognises the importance of vocational education and training
in helping to fill local skills shortages. Sponsored by Youth Career Services, the Award is
presented at the Berrigan Shire Business and Environment Awards in April each year. The
2008 recipient of the Award was Shaun Kable, who undertook a Workplacement at
Ashley Haynes Butchery in Finley.
Berrigan Shire Accommodation Scholarship – The Berrigan Shire Accommodation
Scholarship aims to assist a local student to obtain university qualifications while
strengthening their link with the local community. The scholarship is offered in
partnership with Charles Sturt University Wagga Wagga, with scholarship recipients able
to live in the “Berrigan Shire Room” of a self-contained on-campus cottage rent free for
two semesters. The 2007/08 recipient was Luke Brooks of Finley, who is undertaking his
first year of a Bachelor of Education (Primary). Luke intends to return to Finley after
graduation to begin his teaching career. The scholarship is offered on an annual basis for
the life of the building, which was officially opened in February 2007.
Berrigan Shire Local Government Scholarship – The Berrigan Shire Local
Government Scholarship aims to provide a local student with the opportunity to acquire
the skills, qualifications and experience to pursue a career with the Council in a field of
identified skills shortages. Offered on a biennial basis to students from the local
government area, the scholarship includes 12 weeks paid vacation employment each year
with the Council, reimbursement of textbook costs, and full-time employment with the
Council following graduation. In addition, for each year the student continues
employment with the Council following graduation, the Council will repay one year of the
deferred course tuition fees. The inaugural recipient of this scholarship was Shayla Razga
of Barooga who is now completing her third and final year of a Bachelor of Public Health
degree at La Trobe University Bendigo. Shayla undertakes holiday employment with the
Council during the university holidays as a trainee Environmental Health Officer and will
commence full time employment in 2009. Funding towards this scholarship has been
received from the Department of Local Government.

PROMOTING INVESTMENT
Promotional Material – In 2007/08 the Council revamped all its publications and its
section of the Council‟s website. The material and website provides information on the
services, infrastructure and institutions located within the Shire and its townships. Aimed
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at developers, existing businesses and prospective new residents, it fulfils most enquiry
requirements for businesses considering relocating to, or expanding in Berrigan Shire.
Business Enquiries – The Unit routinely provides assistance to businesses looking to
invest in Berrigan Shire. To assist with these enquiries the Unit provides a range of
information and statistics on the local area, helps businesses identify suitable development
sites, acts as an advocate for developers, and provides referrals to relevant agencies and
assistance services. In 2007/08 there were multiple enquiries to the Unit, covering a range
of business opportunities including retail, manufacturing, residential development, and
carbon minimisation technologies.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES – ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT
Objective

Performance Indicator

Outcome/Status

Continue to pursue the spot rezonings
for Tocumwal and Barooga.

Rezoning finalised.

 Complete
Rezonings have been gazetted.

Undertake work outlined in the Project
Plan for the new Principal LEP for
Berrigan Shire.

Work undertaken in accordance with
the project plan.

 Ongoing
State Grant of $100,000 to be
progressively received.
GHD has been engaged as the
consultant planner for the project.
Project has commenced and is being
undertaken in accordance with the
project plan.

If required, provide assistance to
Barooga Sports Club and Berriquin
Nursing Home with spot rezoning
application to the Council.

Assistance provided if required.

 No assistance required
Assistance was not requested and
appears to be no longer required.

Utilise the website as the main way of
distributing economic development
information.

Ensure content remains current.
Make all economic development
materials available through the
website.
Promote the use of the website as a
source of economic development
materials.

 Complete
All economic development materials
are currently available via the
Council‟s website.
Materials are promoted through the
economic development newsletter and
contact with developers.
All publications were updated in late
2007 / early 2008.

Improve communication links with
businesses and investors.

Produce and distribute the What‟s On
Newsletter on a regular basis.
Investigate the development of a
subscription list to distribute relevant
information and newsletters.
Periodically present at Chamber
meetings on activities, events or
resources available to businesses.

 Complete
What‟s On Newsletter is being
distributed on a quarterly basis to
business
Chambers,
and
then
forwarded on to their members.
There has been no interest in a separate
subscription list.
The Council‟s Economic Development
Officer has attended several Chamber
meetings and made presentation on the
role of the EDO.

Maintain
and
develop
promotional materials.

Materials including the Prospective
New Residents Kit and Business
Prospectus updated and modified to
reflect styling templates.
Information from the 2006 Census
incorporated into materials.
Availability of materials promoted to
businesses and investors.

 Complete
Information from the 2006 Census has
been incorporated into materials.
Materials made available to investors
through the Council‟s website.
A decision was made to not have
styling
templates
professionally
developed. Template documents have

Shire
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been prepared internally, and utilised
for the presentation of these materials.
Maintain and develop the Small
Business Information Kit.

Kit updated and modified to reflect
new styling templates.
Availability of resource promoted to
businesses.

 Complete
Kit updated.
Templates produced internally, and
publications updated to reflect the new
design.

Facilitate
business
development
programs that address key issues.

Identify what seminars, events and
programs are required to build
business capacity and help facilitate
rollout.
Promote events where possible.
Provide letters of support to training
providers seeking to deliver relevant
programs.

 Complete
The Council helped organisations
offering seminars and events locally
with promotional activities.

Provide assistance, advocacy and
referral services to businesses and
investors.

Provide assistance, referral and
advocacy services as appropriate.
Develop materials to ensure a timely
response to enquiries.
Follow-up with enquiries after initial
assistance has been provided.

 Complete
Assistance provided as required.

In conjunction with Youth Career
Services,
coordinate
the
Workplacement Student of the Year
Award.

Participation is conditional on
financial and in-kind support from
Youth Career Services.
Complete nomination, selection and
award presentation process.
Publicise the Award finalists and host
business.

 Ongoing
Award presented in April at the
Business and Environment Awards.
This year‟s recipient was Shaun Kable,
who undertook a Workplacement at
Ashley Haynes Butchery in Finley.

Establish a Young Professionals
network in Berrigan Shire.

Provide in-kind support to establish the
Network.
Attend Young Professionals Network
events where possible.
Promote Network locally.

 Incomplete
The project was not undertaken due to
its relative low priority and a lack of
resources.

Continue to support
Employment Expo.

2008 Employment Expo held at Finley
High School.
Funding form the Council‟s Economic
Development budget allocated to the
event as required.
Options for reducing the Council‟s
resource commitment considered.

 Complete
The 2008 Local Employment Expo
was successfully held at Finley High
School on 12 June 2008. Students from
Years 10-12 participated in the event.

Promote service to businesses.
Support activities undertaken locally.

 Complete
Assistance provided where possible.

Shire

Publicise the scholarship and select a
suitable recipient.
Work with CSU to better roll out the
scholarship application and selection
process.

 Complete
Scholarship publicised and 2008
recipient selected. The recipient of the
2008 scholarship was Luke Brooks
who is undertaking a Bachelor of
Education (Primary).

Review the Local Government
Scholarship Program after the initial
application and selection process has
been finalised.

A better understanding of how the
scholarship may be implemented in
future years obtained.
Ongoing
publicity
campaign
promoting the scholarship.
Reporting requirements
to
the
Department of Local Government met.

 Complete
Scholarship publicised on an ongoing
basis through the Council‟s website.
The Council participated in the survey
coordinated by DLG and an analysis of
the overall results was undertaken. The
Berrigan Shire Scholarship appears to
be one of the few funded projects that
is operating successfully.

the

Provide support to the
Skilled Migration Program.
Coordinate
the
Berrigan
Accommodation Scholarship.

Local

Regional
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Explore the development of a Skill
Needs Audit for consideration in the
2008-09 Action Plan.

Investigate project options, potential
partnerships and funding.

 Incomplete
Not progressed due to a lack of
resources.

Terminate the Job Board.

Remove the Job Board from the
Council website.
Publicise available services and
materials assisting employment.

 Complete
Job Board removed from the Council
website.

Consider
offering
the
Young
Achievement Australia Program in
2008.

Investigate opportunity to host YAA in
2008.

 Complete
During a review of the Council‟s
economic development strategic plan a
decision was made not to offer the
project due to its relative low priority
and a lack of resources.

Provide support and assistance to
major investment and development
enquiries.

Ensure appropriate
response to enquiries.
Follow-up enquiries
assistance provided.

 Ongoing
Assistance provided as required.

Implement a promotional program to
encourage investment in Berrigan
Shire.

Allocate funding from the Economic
Development budget to engage a
consultant to develop or reformat style
and content of existing and new
economic development materials.
Investigate the development of new
materials and tools targeted at
proactively attracting investment.
Consider opportunities to participate in
regional marketing events to promote
Berrigan Shire.

 Complete
A consultant was engaged to prepare
the templates but due to delays in the
commencement of the project and
changes to staff a decision was made to
cancel the project and develop new
templates internally. These are now
being used.
A decision was made to continue using
general
investment
promotional
materials and tailor specific materials
to match customer needs.
Berrigan Shire Council participated in
a regional promotional campaign
through MurrayNow.

Consider the implementation of a
commercial premises improvement
scheme commencing in 2008-09.

Investigate options for operating and
funding a loan scheme for businesses
to undertake refurbishment of shop
fronts.

 Incomplete
During a review of the Council‟s
economic development strategic plan a
decision was made to discontinue this
project due to its relative low priority
and a lack of resources.

Further explore the development of an
Investment
Assistance
Package
commencing implementation in 200809.

Investigate options to facilitate
business investment into community
and private infrastructure.

 Not yet commenced
Investigation into the establishment of
an Investment Assistance Package has
not yet commenced. However,
opportunities to facilitate business
investment into community and private
infrastructure are pursued where
possible.

Consider the sale of surplus land at the
aerodrome.

Investigation of potential land for sale.

 Not yet commenced

Develop a business plan for the
development and sale of land in the
south/west corner of the aerodrome.

Business plan developed and adopted
by the Council.

 Not yet commenced

Work with industry stakeholders to
promote the irrigation industry within
the region in order to facilitate the
continued operation and development
of irrigated farming within Berrigan
Shire.

Future of the irrigation
coordinated and promoted.

 Ongoing
The Council is working with a number
of groups on an ongoing basis to help
promote irrigated farming within
Berrigan Shire.

and

timely

after

initial

industry
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Implement a proactive approach to
economic development in order to
facilitate appropriate development
within the Shire and prevent Council
operations
from
impeding
development.

Address
land
availability
in
consultation with stakeholders in order
to address infrastructure issues and
focus on the ongoing development of
industry, tourism and the community.
Better coordinated and accommodated
development.
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 Ongoing
Discussions with various industry
representatives have been held.

Risk Management
Berrigan Shire Council is committed to, and places a high priority on managing its risks
strategically and systematically in order to benefit the community and manage the adverse
effects to the Council. For some time risk management has become increasingly important to
the Council. Combined with a growing awareness that additional work needs to be done to
mitigate risk, a more systematic approach to risk management has been implemented.
In line with this commitment the Council has developed and adopted a risk management
policy, framework and strategic plan. The risk management policy defines the way the
Council‟s risk management functions are integrated into the activities and processes of the
Council, while the risk management framework outlines the processes involved in managing
risk. In addition, the Council has a risk management committee which provides a forum for
determining through consultation the future directions of the Council‟s risk management
activities and the implementation of the risk strategic plan.
The risk management responsibilities of Councils are extremely diverse and include issues
such as public liability, professional indemnity, health and safety, fraud control, volunteer
management, emergency preparedness, legislative compliance, and governance. These issues
are addressed through a combination of physical remediation works following a formal risk
assessment, and cultural change aimed at embedding risk management processes into day-today organisational practices.
In 2007/08 the focus of the Council‟s risk management activities was in the following areas:
Swimming Pools
Playgrounds
Applications
Certificates
Fraud
Trees and Tree Root Management
Signs as Remote Supervision
General Risk Remediation Works
Continuous Improvement Activities
To assist with the implementation of the Council‟s risk management activities, in June 2006
the Council made application to the State Government to apply a 2% levy on ordinary rates
for a five year period to fund essential risk management activities. These activities became
essential as a result of the recent successful public liability claim made upon the Council, the
hardening of the market for the provision of insurance to local government, and the
requirements of the Council‟s insurer for improved risk management practices. This special
rate variation was approved by the Minister for Local Government with all funds raised
through this special variation to be spent on risk mitigation works in public areas for which
the Council is responsible.
In 2007/08 the Special Rate Variation approved in pursuance of Section 508(2) of the Local
Government Act 1993 raised $71,034.00 for risk management projects. The following table
outlines the projects and outcomes achieved through funding from the Special Rate Variation.
Any unspent funds have been carried over for risk management works in 2008/09.
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Project/Program

Outcomes Achieved

Expenditure

Indemnity Agreement

Council‟s solicitors prepared a template indemnity agreement that
can be used to indemnify the Council against possible injuries on
Council land arising from third party activities.

$1,115.25

Pool Safety Signage

Safety signage at the Council‟s pools in Berrigan, Finley and
Tocumwal, erected in accordance with the Swimming Pool
Treatment Plan and following an audit of safety signage.

$2,465.92

Mary Lawson Wayside Rest
Area, Finley

Risk mitigation works carried out in accordance with the adopted
treatment plan.

$23,959.01

Barooga Botanical Gardens
Playground

Mitigation works to improve the safety of the playground carried
out in accordance with the Playground Treatment Plan.

$7,052.72

Playground Safety

Remediation works at playgrounds throughout the Shire to improve
safety in accordance with the adopted Playground Treatment Plan.

$1,720.07

TOTAL EXPENDITURE

$36,312.97

Carried forward from 2006/07

$35,735.60

Special Rate Variation 2007/08

$(71,034.00)

CARRIED FORWARD TO 2007/08

$(70,456.63)

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES – RISK MANAGEMENT
Objective

Performance Indicator

Develop a written policy and
procedure
for
the
registration,
processing, return and determination
of all applications lodged.
Develop a flow chart that accurately
depicts the Council‟s process for
handling the determination of an
application.

Policy adopted.
Procedure
including
flowchart
prepared.
Risks of litigation through the
processing of applications minimised.

Develop a written policy and
procedure for the request, processing,
recording, verification and issuing of
certificates which is compliant with
the relevant legislation for each
certificate used.

Written policy prepared and adopted.
Procedure prepared and adopted.
Information as supplied by third
parties will not be entered onto
Council‟s database until it has been
verified and validated.
Council‟s flow chart depicting the
process for handling certificates is
verified.
Audit of council‟s certificate request,
registration, tracking, monitoring and
processing systems.
Risks of litigation arising from the
issuing of certificates can be
minimised.

Review Council‟s Customer Request
and Suggestion policy and procedures.

Policy reviewed.
Electronic request and suggestion
systems investigated.
Revised system implemented.
Staff trained in use of system.
Customer
and
request
system
integrated with staff incident/risk
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Outcome/Status
 Complete
The preparation of a policy was not
appropriate but a procedure including a
flow chart has been developed
The forms used in the application
process have been audited for
completeness.
 Complete
The preparation of a policy was not
appropriate but a procedure including a
flow chart has been developed.
The forms used in the certificate
process have been audited for
completeness.
The Council does not enter information
from third parties into its system.
The certificates process is examined
annually as part of the Public Liability
audit process conducted by Statewide.

 Complete
A new system has been implemented
and training has been provided to all
relevant staff.
Policy & procedures are being written
around existing practice.

reporting mechanisms.
Develop and implement an asbestos
management plan including asbestos
register.

Asbestos
register
developed,
identifying the location and condition
of asbestos related materials under
Council control.
Asbestos management plan developed
and implemented.
Appropriate staff trained in the
identification of asbestos.
Potential injuries resulting from
exposure
to
asbestos
products
minimised.
Obligations
under
Workers
Compensation & OHS legislation met.

Develop and maintain a fraud control
plan that specifies the results of fraud
risk
assessments,
defines
the
effectiveness of control measures, and
assists with making decisions on any
measures and resources to be devoted
to countering fraud.

Fraud control plan developed and
adopted.
Routine fraud risk assessments
undertaken.
Measures to minimise vulnerability to
fraud are implemented.

Agree upon criteria for the selection
and planting of trees in areas where
trees may interact with services and
structures.

Criteria for selecting and planting trees
determined.
Flow chart that reflects council‟s tree
selection
and planting process
prepared.
“Preferred species” list highlighting
the important characteristics of each
tree prepared.

Develop and adopt a tree management
policy.

Risk management control strategies
developed and adopted.
Flow chart reflecting Council‟s tree
management policy prepared.
Tree Inventory of all council owned
trees prepared.
Written procedures developed.
Systematic method for determining
tree hazards implemented.
Complaints or problems with trees
recorded against the tree inventory or
property location.
Risk of litigation due to tree and tree
root problems will be minimised.

Update
Council‟s
playground
equipment inventory to include
equipment location, installation dates,
installer details, manufacturer warranty
details and inspection and maintenance
instructions.

Equipment inventory updated.

Institute a regular maintenance
program for all items of playground
equipment and soft fall areas
specifying
the
frequency
of
maintenance and requiring “sign-off”
to signify that hazards have been
corrected.

Equipment will be routinely inspected.
Inspections program will meet insurer
requirements and relevant standards.

 Carried Forward
RAMROC has agreed to co-ordinate
this activity at a regional level,
although little progress has been made
to date. RAMROC will appoint
someone to undertake the audits and
prepare management plans.

 Complete
Fraud control plan developed and
adopted. Some measures to minimise
vulnerability to fraud have been
implemented as part of the policy.

 Carried Forward
The development of a list of trees that
complies with the Best Practice
Manual issued by Statewide Mutual
has commenced.

 Carried Forward
Preparation of a tree inventory has
commenced with a GPS survey of trees
underway. Where possible Council
staff will be used to prepare the
inventory, but it may be necessary to
source an arborist for the remaining
work (approx. 70%).
Compilation of a Tree Management
Policy has commenced.

 Complete
Inventory is up-to-date.

 Complete
The inspection program is behind
schedule due to a shortage of qualified
staff. The program is expected to be
back on schedule by August 2008
following the training of additional
staff to complete the work.
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Freedom of Information
Annual Statistical Report
The Freedom of Information Act 1989 requires the Council to publish in its Annual Report
statistical details of Freedom of Information requests for the period 1 July 2007 to 30 June
2008. Comparative data is provided with 2006/07.
2006/07
FOI Requests

Personal

Other

Total

New (including transferred in)

Nil

Nil

Nil

Brought forward

Nil

Nil

Nil

Total to be processed

Nil

Nil

Nil

Completed

Nil

Nil

Nil

Transferred out

Nil

Nil

Nil

Withdrawn

Nil

Nil

Nil

Total processed

Nil

Nil

Nil

Unfinished (carried forward)

Nil

Nil

Nil

Personal

Other

Total

New (including transferred in)

Nil

1

1

Brought forward

Nil

Nil

Nil

Total to be processed

Nil

Nil

Nil

Completed

Nil

1

1

Transferred out

Nil

Nil

Nil

Withdrawn

Nil

Nil

Nil

Total processed

Nil

1

1

Unfinished (carried forward)

Nil

Nil

Nil

2007/08
FOI Requests

No enquiries under the FOI Act were received from the Ombudsman during the financial
year, nor were there any appeals under the FOI Act to the District or Supreme Court. The
Council operates a very open policy and generally makes non confidential information
available to the community. The impact relating to the implementation of this requirement is
therefore very limited.
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Statement of Affairs
Organisation Structure

The following diagram outlines the organisation structure of Berrigan Shire Council:
The Council

General Manager

Director of Corporate Services

Director of Technical Services

Functions

The Council‟s major functions are specified by the Local Government Act 1993. Set out
below are details of the Council‟s Charter as set out in Section 8 of the Act.
To provide directly or on behalf of other levels of government, after due consultation,
adequate, equitable and appropriate services and facilities for the community and to
ensure that those services and facilities are managed effectively.
To exercise community leadership.
To exercise its functions in a manner that is consistent with and actively promotes the
principles of multiculturalism.
To promote and to provide and plan for the needs of children.
To properly manage, develop, protect, restore, enhance and conserve the environment of
the area for which it is responsible, in a manner that is consistent with and promotes the
principles of ecologically sustainable development.
To have regard to the long term and cumulative effects of its decisions.
To bear in mind that it is the custodian and trustee of public assets and to effectively
account for and manage the assets for which it is responsible.
To facilitate the involvement of councillors, members of the public, users of facilities and
services and council staff in the development, improvement and co-ordination of local
government.
To raise funds for local purposes by the fair imposition of rates, charges and fees, by
income earned from investments and, when appropriate, by borrowings and grants.
To keep the local community and the State government (and through it, the wider
community) informed about its activities.
To ensure that, in the exercise of its regulatory functions, it acts consistently and without
bias, particularly where an activity of the council is affected.
To be a responsible employer.
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Decision Making Functions

The decision making body of the organisation is predominantly the Council. The General
Manager also has specific delegated powers as contained in the Local Government Act 1993.
The General Manager also has the power to delegate specific decision making functions to
other officers.
The details of the delegations to the General Manager and to other staff are contained in the
Council‟s Register of Delegations.
Community Participation

The involvement of the community in making submissions to the Council when policies and
plans of the Council are on public display is clearly contained in the Local Government Act,
1993. The Council also has an extensive range of community Committees which administer
facilities directly on behalf of the community; and the Council has established Community
Development Committees to advise the Council on matters relating to specific towns.
Public Documents

The following documents are available at the Council's Offices for inspection:
Agendas and business papers for Council and committee meetings (but not including
business papers for matters considered when a meeting is closed to the public)
Annual financial reports
Annual Report
Annual reports of bodies exercising delegated council functions
Any codes referred to in the Local Government Act, 1993
Applications under Part 1 of Chapter 7 for approval to erect a building, and associated
documents
Auditor‟s report
Departmental representatives‟ reports presented at a meeting of the council in accordance
with section 433
Development applications (within the meaning of the Environmental Planning and
Assessment Act 1979) and associated documents
EEO Management Plan
Environmental planning instruments, development control plans and plans made under
Section 94AB of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 applying to land
within the Council‟s area.
Gift Register
Leases and licences for use of public land classified as community land
Local Emergency Management Plan (Displan)
Local policies adopted by the council concerning approvals and orders
Management Plan
Minutes of Council and Committee meetings, but restricted (in the case of any meeting or
part of a meeting that is closed to the public) to the resolutions and recommendations of
the meeting
Plans of land proposed to be compulsorily acquired by the Council
Plans of management for community land
Records of approvals granted, any variation from local policies with reasons for the
variation, and decisions made on appeals concerning approvals
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Records of building certificates under the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act
1979
Register of delegations
Register of investments
Returns as to candidates‟ campaign donations
Returns of the interests of Councillors, designated persons and delegates
The Council‟s Land Register
The Council‟s Policy concerning the payment of expenses incurred by, and the provision
of facilities to Councillors
The model code prescribed under section 440(1) and the code of conduct adopted by the
Council under section 440(3)
The register of graffiti removal work kept in accordance with section 67C
The Statement of Affairs, the Summary of Affairs and the register of policy documents
required under the Freedom of Information Act 1989
Policy Manual, including the following policies:
1
2
4
6
7
8
9
11
12
13
14
16
17
19
20
21
23
24
26
28
29
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
52
54
57
58
59
61
62
63

COUNCIL NAME BADGES
UNAUTHORISED ADVERTISING STRUCTURE - REMOVAL OF
STREET STALLS
HIRE OF PLANT FOR COUNCIL WORKS
BERRIGAN AIRSTRIP
TOCUMWAL AERODROME
MURRAY RIVER WATER POLICY STATEMENT ON WATER QUALITY
STAFF SERVICE WITH THE AUSTRALIAN ARMY RESERVE
ATTENDANCE AT LOCAL GOVERNMENT CONFERENCES
HOUSING FOR STAFF MEMBERS
MAYOR'S SEDAN
USE OF THE COUNCIL CHAMBERS - FORMAL AREA
MONUMENTAL AND LAWN CEMETERIES
FEES - APPROVED FIRST AID COURSE
AUTHORITY TO SEND BUSH FIRE CONTROL UNITS OUTSIDE THE COUNCIL'S AREA
AUTHORITY TO SEND COUNCIL PLANT OUTSIDE THE COUNCIL'S AREA IN EMERGENCY
SITUATIONS
HIRE OF COUNCIL PLANT FOR PRIVATE WORKS
SELECTION OF STAFF MEMBERS
INSURANCE - RISK MANAGEMENT
ACCESS TO COUNCIL‟S REFUSE DEPOT - SPECIAL EVENTS
COUNCIL CLOTHING POLICY
SALARY POLICY
DOG AND DOG IMPOUNDING POLICY
PUBLIC LIABILITY CLAIMS PROCEDURE
OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY AND OBJECTIVES POLICY
POLICY FOR THE PAYMENT OF EXPENSES AND THE PROVISION OF FACILITIES FOR
MAYORS AND COUNCILLORS
STREET AND PUBLIC PLACE NAMING POLICY
STAFF REMUNERATION PACKAGE
PURCHASING POLICY
SERVICE RECOGNITION
PRESENTATION ON RETIREMENT FROM THE COUNCIL
SMOKE FREE ENVIRONMENT POLICY
PRE EMPLOYMENT MEDICAL POLICY
REHABILITATION POLICY
STREET BANNERS POLICY
ANNUAL CHRISTMAS DINNER
DEFERRED DEBTORS
ASSISTANCE WITH LEGAL EXPENSES
LEAVE POLICY (see also Policy No. 72 Annual and Other Leave Policy)
INTERNAL REPORTING POLICY
DRIVEWAYCONSTRUCTION
EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY POLICY STATEMENT
TRAINING POLICY STATEMENT
LONG SERVICE PAYMENTS
LOCAL APPROVALS POLICY
REFUND OF APPLICATION FEES
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64
65
66
67
68
69
71
72
73
75
76
77
79
80
81
84
86
87
88
89
90
91
92
93
94
95
98
101
102
103
104
105
106
107
108
109
110
111
112

WASTE MANAGEMENT
CUSTOMER REQUEST / SUGGESTION POLICY
LIABILITY MANAGEMENT POLICY
STOCK IMPOUNDING POLICY
ASSISTANCE FOR ATTENDANCE OF INDIVIDUALS AT SPORTING AND OTHER EVENT
NEW KERBSIDE GARBAGE COLLECTION SERVICES
HEAT STRESS POLICY
ANNUAL AND OTHER LEAVE POLICY
REIMBURSEMENT OF RELOCATION EXPENSES POLICY
CHILD PROTECTION POLICY
CAPITAL GRANTS AND CONTRIBUTIONS POLICY
DRAINAGE CORRIDORS FIRE REDUCTION POLICY
CONSTRUCTED FOOTPATH RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY
ADMINISTRATION OF CONTRIBUTORY FOOTPATH AND KERB AND GUTTER SCHEMES
PURSUANT TO CLAUSES 217, 218 & 219 OF THE ROADS ACT 1993
PUBLIC INFORMATION POLICY
DRUG AND ALCOHOL FREE WORKPLACE POLICY
PUBLIC INTERNET USAGE
ATTENDANCE OF COUNCILLORS AT COMMUNITY MEETINGS AND EVENTS
WATER TRADING POLICY
POLICY FOR VOLUNTEERING IN BERRIGAN SHIRE
PRIVATE USE OF COUNCIL VEHICLES
COUNCIL INVOLVEMENT IN NEW ENTERPRISES
TENDER EVALUATION POLICY
TOCUMWAL AERODROME RUNWAY 04/22
RISK MANAGEMENT
ROAD OPENING POLICY
COMMUNICATION DEVICES POLICY
LIBRARY COLLECTION POLICY
FRAUD CONTROL POLICY
LOCAL POLICY FOR RELOCATION OF PREVIOUSLY USED RESIDENCES
REQUESTS FOR DONATIONS AND FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE
DEVELOPMENT ASSESSMENT AND CONTROL COMMUNITY CONSULTATION POLICY
PRIVATE USE OF COUNCIL VEHICLES – FUEL CHARGE
EARLY ISSUE OF SUBDIVISION CERTIFICATES
PERMANENT WATER SAVINGS POLICY
SIGNS AS REMOTE SUPERVISION
PLAYGROUND MANAGEMENT
LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE POLICY
INVESTMENT POLICY

The following Codes and Plans are also available for viewing:
Apex Park Plan of Management
Berrigan Local Environmental Plan 1992
Code of Conduct
Code for Erection of Swimming Pools and Safety Fences
Cultural Plan 2005-2008
Detached Dwellings Code
Development Control Plan No. 1 – “Village”
Development Control Plan No. 2 – “Exempt and Complying Development”
Development Control Plan No. 3 – “Parking”
Development Control Plan No. 4 for the Tocumwal Aerodrome
Development Control Plan for Residential Building Lines
Development Servicing Plan – Water
Development Servicing Plan - Sewer
Drought Management Plan
Ecologically Sustainable Development Statement
Guarantee of Service
Library Management Plan 2006-2010
Local and Neighbourhood Parks Plan of Management
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Local Companion Animal Management Plan
Local Government Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting
Murray Regional Environmental Plan No. 2 – Riverine Land
On Site Sewerage Management Plan
Operational Environmental Management Plan (OEMP) For Effluent Reuse On Finley
Golf Course
Pedestrian Access and Mobility Plan
Pesticide Use Notification Plan
Plan for the Management of the Corella Population at Tocumwal
Privacy Management Plan
Residential Flat Code
Risk Management Strategic Plan
Roadside Vegetation Management Plan
Section 94 Development Contributions Plan
Social/Community Plan July 2005 to June 2008
State of the Environment Report
Statement of Business Ethics
Stormwater Management Plan & SBP
Strategic Business Plan – Road Assets
Strategic Business Plan - Sewer
Strategic Business Plan – Water
Strategic Economic Development Plan
Subdivision Code
Tocumwal Foreshore & Recreation Reserve Plan of Management
Water Demand Management Plan
Any person may come to the Council‟s office at 56 Chanter Street, Berrigan, and view the
above information. Any enquiries should be directed to Matthew Hansen, the Council‟s
Public Officer on (03) 5888 5100.
Any person can request to view his/her own personal record and can request the alteration of
certain information that is held by the Council in connection with its administrative functions
and if the information is, in the person‟s opinion, incomplete, incorrect, out of date or
misleading. Any records of a legal or accounting nature cannot be altered without proper
approval or advice.

ROWAN PERKINS
GENERAL MANAGER
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Operational Information

Administrative Offices:
Postal Address:
Telephone:
Facsimile:
E-mail:
Website:

56 Chanter Street, Berrigan NSW 2712
PO Box 137, Berrigan NSW 2712
(03) 5888 5100
(03) 5885 2092
mail@berriganshire.nsw.gov.au
www.berriganshire.nsw.gov.au

OFFICE HOURS
8.00am to 5.00pm Monday to Friday
AFTER HOURS EMERGENCY CONTACTS:
In the case of an emergency please contact the Council on (03) 5888 5100. A 24-hour
emergency contact service is available through this number and the call can be diverted to the
appropriate staff member on duty.
LIBRARY HOURS
Library Hours

Berrigan

Finley

Tocumwal

Barooga

Monday

Closed

Closed

Closed

2.30-6.00

Tuesday

9.30-5.30

Closed

9.30-5.30

Closed

Wednesday

Closed

9.30-5.30

Closed

9.30-6.00

Thursday

9.30-5.30

Closed

9.30-5.30

Closed

Friday

Closed

9.30-5.30

9.30-12.30

2.30-6.00

Saturday

9.30-12.00

9.30-12.00

9.30-12.00

9.30-12.00

Berrigan, Barooga, Finley and Tocumwal Libraries are closed from 12.30pm to 1.00pm for Lunch.
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Appendices
Appendix 1 – Payment of Expenses and Provision of Facilities Policy 2007/08

POLICY FOR THE PAYMENT OF EXPENSES AND THE PROVISION OF FACILITIES FOR MAYORS
AND COUNCILLORS
1. INTRODUCTION
This policy is made under Sections 252-254 of the Local Government Act 1993 (the Act) and in accordance with the
Guidelines issued by the Department of Local Government (May 2007). The Act requires that the Council must annually
adopt a policy concerning the payment of expenses incurred or to be incurred by, and the provision of facilities to, the Mayor,
Deputy Mayor and the other Councillors in relation to discharging the functions of civic office.
1.1.1. Purpose of the Policy
The purpose of the policy is to ensure that there is accountability and transparency in the reimbursement of expenses incurred
or to be incurred by Councillors. The policy also ensures that the facilities provided to assist Councillors to carry out their
civic duties are reasonable.
1.1.2. Policy Objectives
To outline the details and range of benefits provided to Councillors by the Council in a transparent manner.
To ensure that Councillors are reimbursed for expenses reasonably incurred in their performance of their role as a
Councillor in a manner that is acceptable to the community.
To encourage members of the community to seek election to the Council by ensuring that they would not be financially
or otherwise disadvantaged in undertaking the civic duties of a Councillor.
1.1.3. Making and adoption of the Policy
Berrigan Shire Council is required on an annual basis to review and submit its policy to the Director-General of the
Department of Local Government within 28 days of adoption by the Council, even if it is proposed to adopt an unchanged
policy. Current policies must be submitted by 30 November each year.
Before adopting or amending this policy, the Council must give public notice of its intention, and allow at least 28 days for
public submissions. Any public submissions received will be considered and appropriate changes made prior to the adoption
of the policy.
If the proposed amendment is not substantial the Council is not required to provide public notice. The term “not substantial”
should be taken to mean minor changes to the wording of the policy, or changes to monetary provisions or rates that are less
than 5%. It also means minor changes to the standard of the provision of equipment and facilities. Any new category of
expenses, facilities and equipment included in the policy will require public notice.
1.1.4. Reporting requirements
Section 428 of the Local Government Act 1993 requires councils to include in their annual report:
The Council‟s policy on the provision of facilities for, and the payment of expenses to, Mayors and Councillors.
The total amount of money expended during the year on providing those facilities and paying those expenses.
Additional information as required by the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005.
1.1.5. Legislative provisions
Sections 252-254 of the Local Government Act 1993 – Payment of expenses and provisions of facilities.
Section 428 of the Local Government Act 1993 – Annual reports
Clause 217 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005 – Additional information for inclusion in annual
reports.
Clause 403 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005 – Payment of expenses and provision of facilities.
Notional Agreement Preserving the Local Government (State) Award 2004.
1.1.6. Other Government policy provisions
Department of Local Government Guidelines (May 2007) issued under section 23A of the Local Government Act 1993.
Department of Local Government Circulars to Councils
Circular 05/08 Legal assistance for Councillors and council employees
Circular 02/34 Unauthorised use of council resources
Model Code of Conduct for Local Councils in NSW, particularly Use of council resources.
ICAC Publication – No Excuse for Misuse, preventing the misuse of council resources.
1.1.7. Other relevant council documents and policies
Policy 1 – Council Name Badges
Policy 12 – Attendance at Local Government Conferences
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Policy 14 – Mayor‟s Sedan
Policy 90 – Private Use of Council Vehicles
Annual Schedule of Fees and Charges
Berrigan Shire Council Code of Conduct

2. PAYMENT OF EXPENSES
2.1 GENERAL PROVISIONS
2.1.1. Payment of expenses generally
Berrigan Shire Council is committed to ensuring that Councillors are reimbursed for expenses reasonably incurred in their
role of Councillor so that they are not financially or otherwise disadvantaged in undertaking their civic duties.
To ensure consistency and transparency all expenses and costs claimed must be done so in accordance with the requirements
of this policy.
Reimbursement of costs and expenses to Councillors will be processed following the submission of appropriate receipts and
tax invoices, and the completion of the required claim forms. A claim form must include an itemized account of expenditure
and should not be general in nature. Incidental expenses may not require specific receipts provided it can be demonstrated
that expenditure was incurred, it was not general in nature, and that the Councillor certifies that the expense was for the
purpose intended. Generally, this will only be acceptable when it was not possible to obtain a tax invoice or receipt, or proof
or purchase was lost during the payment process (i.e. ticket taken and not returned by an automatic machine).
Where possible, expenses should be claimed as part of the Councillor monthly return. If waiting until the time of the monthly
return would cause undue hardship, arrangements can be made to submit an earlier claim. All expenses must be claimed
within 12 weeks of being incurred.
Berrigan Shire Council operates an internal requisition process that will enable most expenses associated with attendance at
conferences, seminars and training courses to be directly invoiced to the council. This system can be used to cover expenses
relating to registration fees, travel and accommodation. Where possible, provision will also be made for the cost of meals and
incidentals not covered by registration fees to be charged back to the Council. This system will help minimize out-of-pocket
expenditures to Councillors.
In certain circumstances Councillors attending conferences, seminars and training away from home may request payment in
advance, in anticipation of any additional expenses that may be incurred (i.e. meals not covered by registration fees, taxi fares
etc.). In most cases the advance will be in the form of petty cash and will need to be pre-arranged with the Council‟s Finance
Department. On their return, Councillors must fully reconcile all expenses against the cost of the advance within 14 days.
A general expense allowance will not be available under any circumstance.
2.1.2. Spouse and partner expenses
On occasions, it will be appropriate, and in some cases a requirement, that Councillors will be accompanied by their spouse,
partner or accompanying person9 to official functions and activities. In these instances, certain costs incurred by the
Councillor on behalf of their partner (meaning spouse, partner or accompanying person), are properly those of the Councillor
in the performance of his or her functions and are thus reimbursable.
Berrigan Shire Council will meet the reasonable costs of a partner attending official council functions within the local
government area where it could be reasonably expected that the partner would attend.
The Council will also meet the expenses for the partner of the Mayor (or a Councillor when they are representing the Mayor),
when they are called on to attend an official function of council or carry out an official ceremonial duty outside of the council
area.
Where partners accompany Councillors to seminars and conferences and the like, the Councillor will be personally
responsible for all additional costs associated with their partner‟s attendance, including travel, accommodation, meals,
partner‟s programs etc.
The payment of partner expenses for attending appropriate functions as permitted above will be confined specifically to the
ticket, meal and/or the direct cost of attending the function. Peripheral expenses incurred by partners are not considered
reimbursable expenses.
2.2. SPECIFIC EXPENSES FOR MAYORS AND COUNCILLORS
2.2.1. Travel
All travel by Councillors should utilize the most direct route and the most practicable and economical mode of transport
subject to any personal medical considerations.
9

An accompanying person is a person who has a close personal relationship with the Councillor and/or provides
carer support to the Councillor.
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The mode and method of transportation to be used shall be agreed between the Council and the Councillor prior to the travel
taking place, and where possible Councillors should attempt to travel with other representatives from the Council in order to
minimize costs.
Where possible, a Council fleet vehicle will be made available to Councillors traveling outside of the local government area.
These vehicles will need to be booked with the General Manager. On occasions, it may be appropriate for Councillors using
council vehicles to leave from home or another pre-arranged location due to the departure time. In these circumstances it may
be reasonable for the Councillor borrowing the council vehicle to obtain the vehicle the night before. Likewise Councillors
returning to Berrigan after 5pm may arrange to return the vehicle the following morning.
2.2.1.1. Local travel arrangements and expenses
As a rural council it should be recognized that Councillors will need to travel in order to carry out their civic duties.
In addition to travel within the local government area, it may be necessary for Councillors to travel outside of the local
government area in order to represent the Council at meetings or events, or to take part in conferences and training activities.
In most cases transportation options are limited, and with little or no public transportation the majority of travel will be by
private or council provided motor vehicle.
While the Council is committed to meeting the special needs of Councillors in order to maximize participation in civic duties,
the inherent nature of local government in a rural setting makes it necessary for Councillors to provide their own transport for
activities within the LGA.
Where Councillors use their private vehicle for attendance at local events as part of their official duties they will be
reimbursed at a rate determined by the relevant State Industrial Agreement for vehicle expenses, and should claim
reimbursement as part of the their usual monthly return.
2.2.1.2. Travel outside the LGA including interstate travel
It is acknowledged that Berrigan Shire Council is a border community and that interstate travel to Victoria will be essential in
the carrying out of the council‟s official duties. As such, travel to official events and activities in Victoria will be regarded in
the same way as travel to locations in NSW.
As a rural LGA it is often necessary for Councillors to travel outside of the Shire in the conduct of their official duties.
Councillors travelling to meetings and events within 200km of Berrigan Shire do not require the specific approval of the
Council or General Manager. Where possible, a council vehicle will be made available to Councillors travelling to events
within 200km of the Shire. Where this is not possible Councillors will be reimbursed for the private use of their vehicle at the
rate determined by the relevant Industrial Agreement for vehicle expenses and claimed as part of their monthly return.
Travel to meetings and events that are more than 200km from Berrigan Shire should be undertaken with the General
Manager‟s consent. In these circumstances travel arrangements should be organized in consultation with the General
Manager. If travel by motor vehicle is the most suitable method of transportation, the Council will endeavour to provide a
council vehicle. If it is not possible to utilize a council vehicle, the Council may agree to the Councillor supplying their own
vehicle.
Where the Council agrees for a Councillor to supply their own vehicle, the Councillor may claim a reimbursement for the use
of their vehicle for the distance travelled at the rate specified in the relevant Industrial Agreement. If the Councillor chooses
to use their own vehicle despite a council vehicle being made available, or without the prior agreement of the Council, they
will be ineligible to claim a reimbursement for travel more than 200km from the Shire.
Approval to travel to destinations in states other than NSW, the ACT or Victoria for the conduct of council business requires
the prior approval of the Council. The application for approval should include full details of the trip, including itinerary, costs
and reasons for travel. Travel arrangements for interstate travel will be coordinated by the Council on behalf of the
Councillor.
2.2.1.3. Overseas travel
Berrigan Shire Council will not undertake any overseas travel unless a direct and tangible benefit for the council and the local
community can be established.
All overseas travel will be approved by a meeting of the full council prior to a Councillor undertaking a trip. Travel will be
approved on an individual trip basis and retrospective re-imbursement of overseas travel expenses that have not previously
been authorized will not be permitted.
Before a proposal for overseas travel is approved, a detailed proposal, including nomination of the Councillors undertaking
the trip, purpose of the trip, expected benefits, duration, itinerary and approximate costs, will be furnished to the Council as
part of a council business paper.
After returning from overseas, Councillors will provide a detailed report to a meeting of the Council on the aspects of the trip
relevant to council business and/or the local community.
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2.2.1.4. Reimbursement of motor vehicle expenses
Fuel costs associated with travel in a private motor vehicle will be reimbursed based on distance traveled at the rate specified
in the relevant State Industrial Agreement, and not the cost of fuel.
Where travel is undertaken in a council fleet vehicle, where practicable, council vehicles should be refueled at the Council
Depot in Berrigan, or alternatively the fuel card supplied with the vehicle may be used. If neither of these options is feasible,
Councillors may use an alternative fuel distributor and claim reimbursement for the actual cost of fuel.
Fuel cards may be used for fuel and oil only and Councillors will need the password to use the fuel card. Receipts for all
transactions are required.
2.2.1.5. Infringement notices
Councillors are personally responsible for all traffic or parking fines incurred while traveling in private or council vehicles on
council business.
2.2.1.6. Vehicle security
Where travel overnight is required, and it is necessary to leave either a council or private vehicle being used with council
approval in a public place such as an airport, the staff member should, where possible, utilize a secure parking area and claim
a reimbursement for the relevant parking fee on their return.
2.2.1.7. Travel using other forms of transport
Where a Councillor is traveling by transport other than a private motor vehicle, the Council will meet the full actual cost of
travel to and from events, including any associated costs such as parking and road tolls. These arrangements cover travel by
air, public transport, taxis, hire cars etc. and should be arranged in consultation with the General Manager.
2.2.1.8. Extending travel arrangements
Councillors wishing to extend their stay in a destination they have visited for council purposes, or to travel to an alternative
location, will require the prior approval of the General Manager. In such instances Councillors should recognize that the
Council‟s responsibility for their travel ends when the business activity ends and not when they return home. Any additional
costs incurred following the completion of the business activity, including meal costs and accommodation, are not considered
to be reimbursable expenses.
2.2.2. Accommodation costs
In carrying out their civic duties, Councillors will sometimes need to stay away from home. In these circumstances the
Council will meet all reasonable accommodation expenses including breakfast and incidentals associated with attendance at
events, save that partners shall be responsible for any additional accommodation, meals and incidental expenses incurred on
their behalf.
The wide range of events and conferences that Councillors attend often means that there is a diverse range of prices and
standards for accommodation. For example the costs of staying in accommodation of a similar standard can be considerably
different from regional to urban areas. Similarly, it may sometimes be necessary for a Councillor to stay in cabin
accommodation at a conference in a regional area, or at a 4½ or 5 star venue in the city if this is the venue for a conference or
event.
Reasonableness will be determined by the General Manager and will depend on the location of the event and the standards of
accommodation available. In considering which events it may be appropriate for Councillors to attend, the potential cost of
accommodation will be taken into consideration before a decision to participate is made.
Where a Councillor attends events that require travel outside of Berrigan Shire that would necessitate leaving home before
6am, returning home after 10.00pm, or an overall working day exceeding 10 hours, then the Councillor may include
accommodation after the event in travel arrangements. This should be done in consultation with the General Manager.
Where the Council conducts Corporate Planning events at a location more than 200km from Berrigan Shire, it shall provide
accommodation on the evening before and each day of attendance, or as appropriate within these guidelines.
2.2.3. Incidental expenses
Reasonable out of pocket or incidental expenses associated with attending official functions, conferences, seminars or
training courses that Councillors incur may be reimbursed upon the presentation of official receipts and the completion of the
necessary claim forms. The Council will reimburse the actual cost of transport related expenses such as taxi fares, parking
fees and road tolls. Other incidental expenses such as telephone or facsimile calls will be limited to $20 per day, or such
amount as may be negotiated with the General Manager.
Where Councillors are required to carry out official duties outside of the LGA or sleep away from home, each Councillor
may claim reimbursement for the actual cost of sustenance (food and beverages) to a maximum of $200 per day or such
amount as may be negotiated with the General Manager.
The cost of meals not included in registration fees for conferences or similar functions may be reimbursed after
reconciliation. Councillors who choose not to eat a meal provided as part of a conference registration or accommodation
package or the like will not be reimbursed for any additional food costs incurred.
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Councillors may also claim reimbursement for meal or refreshments expenses incurred while attending business functions or
meetings. In some circumstances it may be appropriate to offer an appropriate level of hospitality to non-council employees
attending the meeting/function at the Council‟s request. Meals or refreshments of this nature should be modest and the costs
of meals limited to those outlined above, unless prior approval has been received from the General Manager. In order for
these expenses to be reimbursed, it is important that the Councillor involved organizes pre-approval of these expenses with
the General Manager.

2.2.4. Attendance at seminars and conferences
Policy 12 – Attendance at Local Government Conferences outlines the conferences that the council routinely attends and
specifies who may take part. Attendance of Councillors at these events will be authorized by the Council in accordance with
the policy.
Requests to attend seminars and conferences not specified in the aforementioned policy should generally be made in writing
to the Council or the General Manager, outlining the benefits to the Council of attending the event. Approval for
discretionary trips and attendance at conferences and the like should, where possible be approved by a full meeting of the
Council. If this is not possible then the approval should be given jointly by the Mayor and the General Manager. If the Mayor
requires approval to attend seminars or conferences outside of council meetings it should be given jointly by the Deputy
Mayor and the General Manager.
After returning from the conference, Councillors should provide a written report to the Council on the aspects of the
conference relevant to council business and/or the local community. This can be done as part of the general business section
of a meeting of the Council.
Where attendance at a conference or seminar has been approved, the Council will cover the actual cost of registration fees
including costs of related official lunches and dinners, and associated tours where they are relevant to the business and
interests of the Council. The reasonable cost of transportation and accommodation associated with attendance at the seminar
or conference, and meals when they are not included in the registration fee, will also be met.
2.2.5. Training and educational expenses
Berrigan Shire Council encourages its Councillors to undertake relevant training and skills development to ensure they carry
out their functions as effectively as possible. Where possible, the General Manager will make Councillors aware of training
and educational opportunities. Attendance at training activities will be by request to the Council or the General Manager who
will determine the appropriateness of the request relative to the overall training requirements of all Councillors and budgetary
constraints.
Where the Council is paying these expenses it is essential that the training or educational course is directly related to the
Councillor‟s civic functions and responsibilities.
2.2.6. Attendance at dinners and other non-council functions
Councillors attending dinners and other non-council functions are entitled to the reimbursement of their ticket or meal costs
in accordance with this policy under the following circumstances:
The function is relevant to the council‟s interests; or
The Councillor receives an official invitation to attend a function organized by a community or business group operating
within Berrigan Shire; or
The event will provide Councillors with a briefing on issues facing the local community.
The direct cost of attending such functions can be reimbursed as part of the Councillors normal monthly return. No payment
will be reimbursed for any component of a ticket that is additional to the service cost of the function, such as a donation to a
political party or candidate‟s electoral fund, or some other private benefit.
2.2.7. Communication costs
2.2.7.1. Communication devices installed in Councillor’s homes
The Council will provide each Councillor with a dedicated telephone/facsimile machine to use for official council business.
The Council will meet all costs associated with the use of these machines to a maximum value of $100 per Councillor per
month. This amount includes line rental, other service charges, the receipt and transmission of facsimiles where these are
related to official council business, and making of telephone calls related to official council business.
Where Councillors choose not to have a dedicated line provided, the Council will meet direct expenses associated with the
use of telephone/facsimile services for official duties to a maximum of $85 per Councillor per month.
2.2.7.2. Communication expenses while travelling
The Council will reimburse Councillors for all reasonable council business related communication costs incurred while
travelling on council business. Where possible, Councillors travelling outside of the Shire will be provided with a Council
mobile telephone for use in an emergency or for council business. These phones should be pre-booked with the Council‟s
Finance Manager.
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If for some reason, the Finance Manager is unable to supply a Councillor with a council mobile phone for travel outside of
the Shire, the Councillor may be authorized by the Finance Manager to use a personal mobile telephone for the duration of
the trip. Only when a Councillor has received pre-authorisation to use a personal mobile phone, will the Councillor be
eligible to claim a reimbursement for their business related call costs.
In certain circumstances it may be appropriate for Councillors to use communication devices provided by accommodation
providers. Councillors are however reminded that communication charges charged by accommodation providers are often
inflated and should therefore be used only when absolutely necessary.
The total of communication related expenses whilst traveling will be included in the Councillors $20 daily limit for
incidentals. Should the Councillor anticipate that this limit will be exceeded, they should contact the General Manager to
make alternative arrangements.
The Council acknowledges that family responsibilities may sometimes impact on the Councillor‟s ability to undertake their
civic duties and therefore accepts that Councillors traveling away from home may need to maintain contact with family
members while they are away. Where a Councillor incurs private call costs (including calls made on council provided mobile
telephones) these should be limited to a maximum of 5 minutes and will be included in the maximum total for daily
allowable incidental expenses.
2.2.7.3. Billing anomalies
Where anomalies in billing amounts become apparent, call costs may be audited and the Councillor asked to reconcile calls
made with the account statement.

2.2.8. Care and other related expenses
To allow Councillors to undertake their council business obligations, Councillors are able to claim for the reasonable cost of
carer arrangements, including childcare expenses and the care of elderly, disabled and/or sick immediate family members.
These provisions only apply to council endorsed meetings (including working parties and committee meetings) and cover the
period commencing 45 minutes prior to the meeting start and ending one hour after the completion of the meeting to an upper
limit of $15 an hour. All reimbursements are subject to the provision of an invoice and are on a per Councillor, not per care
recipient, basis.
Councillors with a disability or special access needs will be provided with additional support to allow them to perform their
normal civic duties and responsibilities. The level of support will be to a level comparable to that offered to staff members
and reasonableness will be based on practicality and cost.
2.2.9. Insurance expenses and obligations
Councillors will receive the benefit of insurance cover to the limit specified in the Council‟s insurance policies for the
following matters arising out of the performance of their civic duties and/or exercise of their council functions:
2.2.9.1. Public Liability – Professional Indemnity
Public Liability and professional indemnity insurances apply in relation to claims arising out of the Councillor‟s (alleged)
negligent performance of civic duties or exercise of their functions as Councillors.
2.2.9.2. Councillors’ and Officers’ Liability
This policy covers Councillors against claims made against them for any alleged wrongful acts in the course of their duties.
Wrongful Act is taken to mean any act, error, mis-statement, misleading statement, misleading conduct, omission, neglect or
breach of duty made, committed, attempted or allegedly made, committed or attempted by the insured person.
2.2.9.3. Personal Accident
Councillors are covered, within specified limits, for any personal injury obtained while engaged in or on any activity related
to their official council duties including travel to and from these activities. Full details of the insurance cover are available
from the Council‟s Insurance Officer.
2.2.9.4 Motor Vehicle Insurance
Berrigan Shire Council has an insurance policy to cover loss or damage to council fleet vehicles. Councillors using these
vehicles are covered by the policy.
All insurances are to be subject to any limitations or conditions set out in the Council‟s policy of insurance.
2.2.10. Legal expenses and obligations
The Council will reimburse the reasonable legal expenses of:
A Councillor defending an action arising from the performance in good faith of a function under Section 731 of the
Local Government Act 1993; or
A Councillor defending an action in defamation provided the statements complained of were made in good faith in the
course of exercising a function under the Act; or
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A Councillor for proceedings before the Local Government Pecuniary Interest and Disciplinary Tribunal or an
investigative body provided the subject of the proceedings arises from the performance in good faith of a function under
the Act and the Tribunal or investigative body makes a finding substantially favourable to the Councillor.
The Council will not, under any circumstances, reimburse expenses in respect of legal proceedings initiated by the Mayor
and/or Councillors.
2.3. ADDITIONAL MAYORAL EXPENSES
2.3.1. Communication costs – Mobile telephone
The Council will provide the Mayor with a mobile telephone, of a type specified by the General Manager, and will meet all
council business related costs associated with the use of such telephone to a maximum value of $200 per month.

3. PROVISION OF FACILITIES
3.1. GENERAL PROVISIONS
3.1.1. Provision of facilities generally
Berrigan Shire Council will provide Councillors with facilities equipment and services so that they can undertake their role as
elected members of the Council.
Council facilities, equipment and services are not to be used to produce election material or for any other political purposes.
Councillors should not generally obtain private benefit from the provision of equipment or facilities, nor from any travel
bonus or other such loyalty scheme.
3.1.2. Private use of equipment and facilities
It is acknowledged that incidental use of council equipment and facilities may occur from time to time. Such incidental
private use is not subject to compensatory payment.
Where more substantial private use occurs, Councillors will be expected to make a payment to cover the level of private use.
This payment will be made on a full cost recovery basis and where appropriate charged in accordance with the Council‟s
adopted Annual Schedule of Fees and Charges (i.e. for photocopying, facsimile transmission etc.).
3.2. SPECIFIC FACILITIES FOR MAYORS AND COUNCILLORS
3.2.1. Office equipment & supplies
The Council will provide each Councillor with a dedicated telephone/facsimile machine to use for official council business.
The Council will also provide all connection costs to initially establish such machines at a Councillor‟s residence or place of
business. Costs associated with general maintenance of the equipment and consumables such as paper and ink will also be
provided by the Council as required.
Councillors will be provided with access to the photocopiers, facsimile machines, telephones and other relevant office
equipment located at the council office in Berrigan for the purposes of official council business.
Each Councillor will be provided with a diary of a type and standard prescribed by the General Manager. The standard will
be equivalent to diaries supplied to council staff members.
3.2.2. Office space
Councillors wishing to conduct formal meetings have access to meeting rooms at the Council office in Berrigan. These rooms
must be booked through reception.
3.2.3. Secretarial support
All Councillors will be provided with adequate secretarial support so that the Council‟s official duties may be pursued in a
professional manner.
3.2.4. Councillor name badges
In accordance with the general policy of the Council (Policy 1 – Council Name Badges), all Councillors will be issued with a
council name badge. Retiring Councillors will be permitted to retain their badges as a token of service to the Council.
3.2.5. Business cards
All Councillors will be issued with business cards to use during the performance of their official duties.
3.2.6. Meals and refreshments
Where Councillors attend meetings convened by the Council, minor refreshments may be provided in addition to any
appropriate meals as determined by the General Manager.
3.2.7. Council vehicles
Access to a suitable vehicle (if available) will be provided for use on official duties. Vehicles will be sourced from the
council‟s general fleet and bookings must be made in advance.
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3.3. ADDITIONAL MAYORAL FACILITIES
3.3.1. Mayoral vehicle
This section is to be read in conjunction with council‟s general policy and in particular:
Policy 14 – Mayor‟s Sedan
Policy 90 – Private Use of Council Vehicles
The Mayor will be provided with a fully serviced and maintained executive standard council vehicle, including fuel card, for
official duties and commuter use associated with such duties.
The Mayor shall be provided with full private use of the vehicle upon payment of a weekly amount as determined from time
to time by the council as part of its Annual Schedule of Fees and Charges.
3.3.2. Mobile telephone
The Mayor will be provided with a mobile telephone of a type specified by the General Manager.

4. OTHER MATTERS
4.1. CESSATION OF DUTIES
4.1.1. Acquisition or return of facilities and equipment
On the completion of their term of office, extended leave of absence or at the cessation of their civic duties, Councillors are
required to return all equipment and facilities issued by the Council within 28 days. This includes facsimile machines
provided to Councillors, unused consumables such as ink, paper etc., and the mayoral vehicle and mobile telephone.
Dedicated phone lines provided by the Council for official purposes will be disconnected within 28 days of the cessation of
duties.
Under certain circumstances the Councillor may be given the option to purchase the equipment previously allocated to them
at an agreed fair market price or written down value.

(Adopted 17/10/2007)
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Appendix 2 – Annual Financial Statements

Under Section 428(2)(a) of the Local Government Act, 1993 the Council must include a copy
of the Council‟s Audited Financial Statements as part of its Annual Report.

Berrigan Shire Council
Financial Statements

For the financial year ended 30 June 2008
General Purpose Financial Report
Statement by Councillors and Management
Primary Financial Statements
Notes to the Financial Statements
Independent Auditor‟s Reports
Special Purpose Financial Report
Special Purpose Financial Reports
Notes to the Special Purpose Reports
Independent Auditor‟s Reports
Special Schedules
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